
MEETING: CABINET

DATE: Thursday 25th July, 2019

TIME: 10.00 am

VENUE: Committee Room, Town Hall, Bootle

DECISION MAKER: CABINET

Councillor Maher (Chair)
Councillor Atkinson
Councillor Cummins
Councillor Fairclough
Councillor Hardy
Councillor John Joseph Kelly
Councillor Lappin
Councillor Moncur
Councillor Veidman

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Ruth Harrison
Democratic Services Manager

Telephone: 0151 934 2046
E-mail: ruth.harrison@sefton.gov.uk

The Cabinet is responsible for making what are known as Key Decisions, 
which will be notified on the Forward Plan.  Items marked with an * on the 
agenda involve Key Decisions
A key decision, as defined in the Council’s Constitution, is: -
● any Executive decision that is not in the Annual Revenue Budget and 

Capital Programme approved by the Council and which requires a gross 
budget expenditure, saving or virement of more than £100,000 or more 
than 2% of a Departmental budget, whichever is the greater

● any Executive decision where the outcome will have a significant impact 
on a significant number of people living or working in two or more Wards

If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



A G E N D A
Items marked with an * involve key decisions

Item 
No.

Subject/Author(s) Wards Affected

 
 1 Apologies for Absence

 2 Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a 
disclosable pecuniary interest or personal 
interest arises, which is not already included in 
their Register of Members' Interests, to declare 
any interests that relate to an item on the 
agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest, he/she must withdraw from 
the meeting room, including from the public 
gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an 
interest, except where he/she is permitted to 
remain as a result of a grant of a dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest 
he/she must seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer or staff member representing the 
Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting 
room, including from the public gallery, during 
the whole consideration of any item of business 
in which he/she has an interest or whether the 
Member can remain in the meeting or remain in 
the meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

 3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 7 - 
10)

Minutes of the meeting held on 20 June 2019

* 4 Procurement of Sefton Stop Smoking 
Service

All Wards (Pages 11 - 
16)

Report of the Head of Health and Wellbeing

* 5 Liverpool City Region 'Statement of 
Common Ground'

All Wards (Pages 17 - 
26)

Report of the Head of Economic Growth and 
Housing



* 6 Single Use Plastics - Update All Wards (Pages 27 - 
34)

Report of the Head of Corporate Resources

* 7 Revenues & Benefits - Procurement of 
Software Solutions

All Wards (Pages 35 - 
40)

Report of the Head of Corporate Resources

* 8 Revenue and Capital Budget Update - 
Treasury Management Outturn 2018/19

All Wards (Pages 41 - 
54)

Report of the Head of Corporate Resources

* 9 Revenue and Capital Budget Update - 
Revenue Budget Outturn 2018/19

All Wards (Pages 55 - 
68)

Report of the Head of Corporate Resources

 10 Revenue & Capital Budget Update - Capital 
Outturn 2018/19

All Wards (Pages 69 - 
78)

Report of the Head of Corporate Resources

* 11 Revenue and Capital Budget Update 2019/20 All Wards (Pages 79 - 
96)

Report of the Head of Corporate Resources

* 12 Water Utility Procurement Plan All Wards (Pages 97 - 
106)

Report of the Head of Corporate Resources

 13 Exclusion of Press and Public
To comply with Regulation 5(2) of the Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, notice has been published 
regarding the intention to consider the following 
matter(s) in private for the reasons set out 
below.

No representations have been received on this 
matter and this agenda satisfies the 
requirements of Regulation 5(4).

The Cabinet is recommended to pass the 
following resolution:

That, under the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting 
for the following items on the grounds that they 



involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 
1972.  The Public Interest Test has been 
applied and favours exclusion of the information 
from the Press and Public.

 14 Sefton Council Housing Development 
Company- Sandway Homes Limited 
Appendices

(Pages 107 - 
124)

Report of the Head of Corporate Resources

* 15 Finance Monitoring Report Strand Shopping 
Centre, Bootle Appendices

Derby; Linacre (Pages 125 - 
174)

Report of the Executive Director

 16 Re-Admit Press and Public
To invite the press and public back into the 
meeting to consider the following reports:-

 17 Sefton Council Housing Development 
Company- Sandway Homes Limited

(Pages 175 - 
182)

Report of the Head of Corporate Resources

 18 Finance Monitoring Report Strand Shopping 
Centre, Bootle

(Pages 183 - 
186)

Report of the Executive Director



This page is intentionally left blank



THE “CALL IN” PERIOD FOR THIS SET OF MINUTES ENDS AT 12 NOON ON 
TUESDAY 2 JULY, 2019.

3

CABINET

MEETING HELD AT THE BIRKDALE ROOM, TOWN HALL, 
SOUTHPORT

ON THURSDAY 20TH JUNE, 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Maher (in the Chair)
Councillors Atkinson, Cummins, Fairclough, Hardy, 
John Joseph Kelly, Lappin, Moncur and Veidman.

7. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

No apologies for absence were received.

8. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

9. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

Decision Made:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 23 May 2019 be 
confirmed as a correct record.

10. APPOINTMENT TO OUTSIDE BODIES 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Corporate Resources in 
relation to the appointment of the Council's representatives to serve on 
Outside Bodies and Thematic Partnership Bodies for 2019/20 for periods 
of one year and longer as set out in Appendix 1 and 2 to the report. 

The appendices show the proposed appointments for 2019/20 following 
nominations submitted by the Political Groups on the Council. 

Decision Made:  That the Cabinet:

(1) approve the proposed representation on the various Outside Bodies 
set out in Appendix 1 for a twelve month period expiring in May 2020; 
and

(2)   approve the proposed representation on the Outside Bodies set out in 
Appendix 2 for the term of office indicated.

Reasons for the Decision:

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 20TH JUNE, 2019

4

The Cabinet has delegated powers set out in Chapter 5, Paragraph 40 of 
the Constitution to appoint the Council’s representatives to serve on 
Outside Bodies. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

None.

11. BUSINESS CONTINUITY POLICY 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Corporate Resources in 
relation to improving the existing business continuity arrangements in 
approving a Business Continuity Policy that can be referred to in the event 
of a major incident.

Decision Made:

That the Council’s proposed Business Continuity Policy be approved.

Reason for the Decision:

To provide leadership, clear direction and priority for the Council it is 
proposed that a Business Continuity Policy setting out the Council’s 
approach and commitment is presented to the Cabinet for approval.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:

None.

12. BURIALS AND CREMATION SERVICE GROUNDS 
MAINTENANCE PROVISION POST 2020 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Locality Services in 
relation to the proposal of insourcing the Grounds Maintenance provision 
for the Burials & Cremation Service following the end of the current 
external contract in March 2020.

Decision Made:  That:

(1) the insourcing of the Burials & Cremation Grounds Maintenance 
function with the establishment of an in-house service commencing 
April 2020 be agreed;

(2) the Head of Locality Services be granted delegated authority to 
progress the insourcing of the Burials and Cremation Grounds 
Maintenance function (subject to any requirement as to due 
diligence) including any potential TUPE transfer of the existing 
contractors staffing, as appropriate following a due diligence 
exercise and to liaise with the Head of Corporate Resources in 
respect of any action, be agreed: and

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 20TH JUNE, 2019

5

(3) the purchase of vehicles, machinery and equipment to facilitate the 
insourcing of the Burials and Cremation Grounds Maintenance 
function at a cost of £200,000, to be funded from within existing 
budgets, be approved.

Reasons for the Decision:

Following the previous insourcing of the Parks & Landscapes grounds 
maintenance function, now operated by Green Sefton, the opportunity 
exists to deliver another important grounds maintenance function across 
the Burials & Cremation service via the same operational unit.  This will 
provide additional opportunities for community involvement and 
development, as well as providing greater flexibility and additional support 
to the Burials & Cremation service as and when required.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:

Undertaking a new procurement exercise to continue with the service 
being delivered by an external contractor.

13. ACCEPTANCE OF ADULT EDUCATION BUDGET GRANT TO 
SUPPORT SEFTON ADULT COMMUNITY LEARNING SERVICE 

The Cabinet considered the report of the Head of Economic Growth and 
Housing in relation to the acceptance of the Adult Education Budget grant 
to support Sefton Adult Community Learning Service.

The report set out that the level of grant available and offered from 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) to Sefton had been 
increased from the 2018/19 allocation of £787,000 to the 2019/20 
allocation of £820,000. 

The Cabinet Member for Regeneration and Skills, Councillor Atkinson paid 
tribute to the work undertaken by the Leader of the Council, Councillor 
Maher, in his previous role as Portfolio Holder for Employment and Skills 
at Liverpool City Region Combined Authority.

Decision Made:  That:

(1) the offer of £969,724 Adult Education Budget funding available to 
Sefton Council from LCRCA, ringfenced to the delivery of adult 
community learning provision for residents aged 19 and over, be 
noted; and

(2) the Head of Corporate Resources be requested to, when received, 
accept a formal offer of funding from LCRCA by way of entering into 
a contractual agreement with the LCRCA.

Reasons for the Decision:

Sefton Council is requested to undertake this key decision at this time in 
order to maintain continuity of service for adult learners and to allow the 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



CABINET- THURSDAY 20TH JUNE, 2019

6

Service to make necessary arrangements for service planning and 
resource decisions for the year ahead.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:

The only alternative option would be to not accept the offer of Adult 
Education Budget. Refusal of the grant would result in Sefton Council 
being unable to deliver this important service for adults who need 
introductory or second chance learning to improve their wellbeing and 
employability. The Service is well established and well regarded; it fulfils a 
considerable need within our communities and directly contributes to the 
Council’s Vision and values and is central to the achievement of our 
corporate objectives. The option to discontinue a Community Learning 
Service has therefore been rejected. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 25  July 2019

Subject: Procurement of Sefton Specialist Stop Smoking Service 

Report of: Head of Health and 
Wellbeing

Wards Affected: All

Cabinet Portfolio: Health and Wellbeing 

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:

The purpose of this report is to seek approval to complete a tender exercise to re- 
procure Sefton Specialist Stop Smoking Service for Sefton which is due to expire on 31st 
March 2020. The procurement exercise will include a remodel of the current service in 
line with latest evidence and local need.

The replacement contract will be for a 3-year core period, with the option to extend for 
up to 2 (individual) periods of 12 months. The tender exercise will be required to follow 
an OJEU Light - Touch Regime Open Procedure, as part of this process The 
procurement will be based on MEAT (Most Economically Advantageous Tender) taking 
into consideration a balance between quality and cost.

Delegated authority is also sought for the Director of Public Health (in conjunction with 
the Cabinet Member) to award the remaining subsequent extension options if any future 
extensions of this contract are deemed appropriate and offer value for money.

Recommendation(s):

1. That the Director of Public Health be authorised to conduct a procurement 
exercise for Sefton Stop Smoking Service, with a view to entering into a contract 
for a maximum of 5 years comprising an initial 3 year period with an option to 
extend for up to 2 periods of 12 months. 

2. That the Director of Public Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Health and Wellbeing, be granted authority to award the Contract resulting from 
the procurement and to award any extension thereof. 

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The current contract is due to expire in March 2020. 
 
Public Health would like to develop the service model to be more responsive to the 
changing needs of local people in Sefton.  This would enable include greater  action around 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



smoking in pregnancy, smoke free homes and  an improved offer for young people who 
smoke or vape in Sefton.  

The Stop Smoking service is fundamental to the overall Integrated Wellness Service LWS 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

1. To extend the contract for a further 1 years by exercising the additional option 
within the current contract.  This option is rejected because of the continued 
review around smoking priorities, and the need to vary the contract to reflect those 
priorities. 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

The current contract is funded from within the services base budget for which sufficient 
provision exists.  The new contract will similarly be contained within this budget and 
includes pharmacy drug and supply. The contract will include provision for a Smoking in 
Pregnancy Midwife, which is currently being funded separately from one off monies. 
The Stop Smoking budget was reduced by c£500k in 2016/17 contributing to Council 
budget savings, resulting in the development of a specialist service, targeting the most 
vulnerable smokers in Sefton.   

The contract will include provision for variation and early termination by the Council for 
convenience in the event of further reduction in funding and the requirement for the 
Council to achieve an overall balanced budget.

(B) Capital Costs-there are no capital costs associated with this proposal

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Met within existing Public Health budget allocation. 

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications. / The equality Implications have been identified 
and mitigated. / The equality Implications have been identified and risk remains, as 
detailed in the report.

(Please delete as appropriate and remove this text)

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

(Please give a brief description of how the proposals set out in the report contribute 
towards the following Council’s Core Purpose. Insert ‘not applicable’ where required.

Protect the most vulnerable:  x

The service targets Sefton’s most vulnerable smokers, including people living in socio 
economic deprivation, people experiencing poor mental health and pregnant women.
Facilitate confident and resilient communities: x

The service provides support in local communities, carries out outreach in Sefton’s 
most deprived areas. 

The service provides training and support for partners to build capacity around 
smoking cessation through brief intervention and low-level advice.
Commission, broker and provide core services: x
Place – leadership and influencer: n/a
Drivers of change and reform: n/a
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:n/a
Greater income for social investment: n/a
Cleaner Greener:n/a 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD5700/19) and Head of Regulation and 
Compliance (LD4824/19) have been consulted and any comments have been 
incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Consultation stakeholders is planned and will include, service users and partners.  

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee / Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Julie Murray 
Telephone Number: 0151 934 3343  
Email Address: Julie.murray@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

None

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Prevalence 
Estimated smoking prevalence across the whole of Sefton is 12.4%; however, 
this masks much higher prevalence in some of Sefton’s most deprived wards, 
where up to 50% of people smoke tobacco and therefore exposed to more 
concentrated risk from harm. Smoking related deaths in Sefton are significantly 
worse than the rest of England equating to 574 deaths per year.

Smoking remains by far the single biggest preventable cause of death and illness 
in England and the single most important driver of health inequalities. Smoking is 
much more common amongst unskilled and low-income workers than amongst high 
earners. The more disadvantaged a person is, the more likely they are to smoke 
and suffer smoking related illness and premature death.  Smoking rates are also 
higher amongst people experiencing poor mental health, prisoners, looked after 
children and LGBT people. 

Smoking is transmitted across the generations in a cycle underpinned by social 
norms, familiarisation and addiction. In poorer communities, young people are more 
exposed to smoking behavior, more likely to try smoking and once hooked find it 
harder to quit. 

Smoking is so corrosive to individual, family and community health that any success 
in reducing smoking in disadvantaged groups has knock on benefits for the wider 
determinants, not least poverty. (ASH, Health Inequalities and Smoking 2016)

1.2. Sefton Stop Smoking Service  

Sefton Council have contracted Solutions 4 Health to deliver a specialist stop
smoking service for Sefton. This was for a contract period of 2 years with 3 plus 

one year options from April 2016.  
 
The service provides an evidence-based specialised support service for people 
wanting to give up smoking, or reduce harm with a view to quitting in the longer 
term.  

The service is driven to achieve a reduction in smoking prevalence in adults who 
require the most support, including people with poor mental health, pregnant 
women and people living in areas of greatest deprivation and to contribute to 
Sefton’s Living Well Sefton Service (LWS) by: 

• Acting as a specialist spoke, to assist residents across all age groups to stop 
smoking 

• Offering stop smoking advice and providing a range of free, person centred, 
interventions using behaviour change techniques and motivational 
interviewing to tailor health, wellbeing and lifestyle support   

• Providing support and training to all those involved in encouraging and 
supporting people to reduce harm and stop smoking. 

• Focusing specifically on health inequalities and on improving health and 
wellbeing outcomes for residents of the borough and improve the health of 
the poorest. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 4



1.3 Performance 

Overall the service (specialist service and pharmacy offer) received slightly fewer 
referrals between April 2018 – 31st March 2019, compared to the previous year. 
However, the service achieved a higher quit rate 58% compared to 48% for the 
same period. The quit rate for the service reached 61% compared with pharmacies 
at 38%.  

2634 people were referred to the Stop Smoking Service between April 2018 – 31st 
March 2019. Of all those referred, 1837 people set a quit date and a further 539 
people adopted a harm reduction approach. Of the people who set a quit date 58% 
(1060) people went on to quit smoking

Of those referred, 50% (1318) came from health inequality areas with 1034 people 
from the top 10% most deprived wards. 45% of people who set a quit date were 
from health inequality areas.  490 (58%) people who quit smoking were from health 
inequality areas. 

Amongst people experiencing poor mental health who accessed the service (569), 
54% went on to quit, this compares to a quit rate of 38% the previous year.  

Amongst pregnant women who accessed the service (88) 63.4% went on to quit, a 
further 43 adopted a harm reduction approach.  Whilst the quit rate is good and 
reflects the quality of the service, it masks the ongoing challenge of engaging 
women. 224 women were referred, however, only 39% accessed the service. 

For some smokers, reducing consumption with a view to a longer term quit is 
preferred.  Of the 539 people who adopted this approach, 62% (334) reduced their 
consumption by 50% and 142 people went on to set a quit date. Of those, 78% 
went on to quit. 

Of the people who chose to harm reduce, 59% came from high inequality areas, 
38% experience poor mental health and 8% were pregnant. Interestingly, 314 
people had never accessed the service previously. 

This harm reduction approach has proved effective when working with more 
complex smokers, which has been the focus of the specialist service since 
commencement. 

2.1      Areas of Deprivation  

The service has targeted service promotion within areas of deprivation with a view 
to reaching people, who have never previously accessed the service. This has been 
supported by the introduction of a mobile unit ‘Wellness on Wheels’ which is used 
to set up stop smoking support sessions in communities, workplaces and at events. 
The service is now more flexible offering support in venues and at times that suit 
local people, includes evenings and weekends. 
The service has prioritised working with community partners, delivering brief advice 
training to staff and strengthening referral processes. The service has updated its 
communication methods to include social media, interactive website and online chat 
to provide round the clock support.
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



It is acknowledged that for some people who find it more difficult to quit, a harm 
reduction approach is more effective, staff have been supporting many people this 
way, resulting greater uptake amongst routine and manual workers.

2.3 Smoking in Pregnancy

Smoking pregnancy is a complex issue with many challenges. The service has 
worked tirelessly with Southport and Ormskirk and Liverpool Women’s maternity 
units to improve the number and quality of referrals in to the service. As a result, 
the numbers of referrals have increased but not significantly. Public Health is 
working to address smoking in pregnancy at a regional level. 

2.4      Mental Health 

The service has worked closely with Merseycare to improve smoking support for 
people who experience poor mental health. A data sharing agreement has been 
established and training has been provided for staff. People experiencing poor 
mental health continue to be a priority group . 

2.5      Pharmacies

Solutions for Health have taken over management of the pharmacy contracts 
including the provision and governance of pharmaceutical support. This includes 
the introduction of a new database which will capture additional information and 
reduce lost to follow ups and improved quit rates. Tariffs have been revised 
prioritising outcomes for clients rather than activity. SLA’s have been established 
and new pharmacies signed up to ensure good coverage across the whole of 
Sefton.

• 22 Pharmacies providing Level 2 Services  (advice and support to quit) 
• 42 Pharmacies Supplying Champix under the PGD 

A full review of the pharmacy offer is underway and will inform future modelling. 

 4.0 Next Steps 

To re-specify the Specialist, Stop Smoking service to reflect the changing need of 
Sefton residents who smoke or who experience smoke filled environments. This 
will be informed by reviewing the latest evidence and best practice, local 
prevalence including inequalities, consultation findings and service review. Key 
areas for development include;

 Better provision for children and young people in Sefton, including those 
who already smoke or vape and those at risk of smoking in the future. 

 Dedicated resource to tackle smoking in pregnancy
 Smokefree places

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 25 July 2019

Subject: Liverpool City Region 'Statement of Common Ground' - approval

Report of: Chief Planning 
Officer

Wards Affected: (All Wards)

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Planning and Building Control

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To seek approval of the Liverpool City Region ‘Statement of Common Ground’ in relation 
to development plans and the planning process.  This is due to be approved by the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and all  the constituent local authorities 
between July and September 2019.  The ‘Statement of Common Ground’ demonstrates 
effective and on-going joint working, cooperation and progress on cross-boundary 
strategic planning matters between the neighbouring strategic policy-making authorities, 
and that they meet the statutory ‘duty to co-operate’.

Recommendation(s):

(1) That Cabinet approves the Liverpool City Region ‘Statement of Common Ground’ 
subject to: 

a)  The delegation to the Chief Planning Officer of the authority to agree minor 
wording changes to the Statement of Common Ground if proposed by other 
Liverpool City Region Districts or the Combined Authority 

(2) To authorise the Leader of the Council to sign the final approved ‘Statement of 
Common Ground’ on behalf of Sefton Council once the document has been approved by 
the Combined Authority.

(3) Cabinet are also requested to authorise the Cabinet Member - Planning and Building 
Control to approve and sign any future versions of the SOGC in future years.   

Reasons for the Recommendations:

Under the Localism Act 2011 Sefton Council has a legal ‘duty to co-operate’ to engage 
constructively and actively, and to address strategic cross-boundary matters when 
preparing Local Plans.  Paragraph 27 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) 
states that this should be demonstrated through joint preparation of statements of 
common ground.  National planning guidance sets out more detailed information. While 
the Sefton Local Plan is relatively recently adopted (2017), on-going co-operation is 
required as this will feed into any future Local Plan review.

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not to participate in the preparation of a Statement of Common Ground or to approve 
one would make it difficult for Sefton Council to demonstrate, in any future Local Plan 
review, that it had met the statutory duty to co-operate.   

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs 
The costs of on-going, day-to-day co-operation with the other local planning authorities in 
the Liverpool City Region and with the Combined Authority will be met from existing 
budgets.  Currently there are no additional revenue costs associated with the Statement 
of Common Ground.

(B) Capital Costs
There are currently no capital costs associated with the Statement of Common Ground.  

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): 
On-going, day-to-day costs will continue to be met from existing budgets.  

Legal Implications:
There are no legal implications. 

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:  
Not applicable

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
Not applicable

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
The Statement of Common Ground will help to identify strategic needs such as 
employment land and cross-boundary infrastructure, which will help meet the needs of 
Sefton’s communities.

Place – leadership and influencer: 
The Statement of Common Ground provides a supporting framework to help Sefton 
Council achieve the 2030 vision.

Drivers of change and reform: 
Not applicable.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Page 18

Agenda Item 5



The Statement of Common Ground covers issues including housing delivery, economic 
development, transport planning and digital inclusion, where a cross boundary 
approach will help to facilitate sustainable economic prosperity.

Greater income for social investment: 
Not applicable

Cleaner Greener: 
The Statement of Common Ground also includes green infrastructure and natural 
assets, where a cross boundary approach will help contribute to Sefton’s economy, 
people’s wellbeing and the achievement of the 2030 Vision.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5699/19) has been consulted and notes the 
report indicates any costs for the Authority will be met from existing budgets.  Currently 
there are no additional revenue costs associated with the Statement of Common Ground.
The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer(LD.4823/19) has been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

The Statement of Common Ground is a joint document and has been prepared in 
consultation with Halton, Liverpool, St Helens, West Lancashire and Wirral Councils and 
the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority. No other consultations are appropriate.
   
Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Andrea O'Connor
Telephone Number: 0151 934 3560
Email Address: andrea.oconnor@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices: none

Background Papers:

Final Draft Liverpool City Region Statement of Common Ground – see 
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/planning-building-control/planning-policy-including-local-plan-
and-neighbourhood-planning/evidence-and-studies/duty-to-co-operate.aspx 

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) – see 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
 
National planning guidance – see  https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-
making#maintaining-effective-cooperation 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/planning-building-control/planning-policy-including-local-plan-and-neighbourhood-planning/evidence-and-studies/duty-to-co-operate.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/planning-building-control/planning-policy-including-local-plan-and-neighbourhood-planning/evidence-and-studies/duty-to-co-operate.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making#maintaining-effective-cooperation
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making#maintaining-effective-cooperation


1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) requires neighbouring 
strategic policy-making authorities such as Sefton Council to document effective 
and on-going joint working, cooperation and progress on cross-boundary 
strategic planning matters.  Paragraph 27 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework states that this should be documented in Statements of Common 
Ground which are to be made publicly available.   Statements of Common 
Ground also form part of the evidence required by local planning authorities to 
demonstrate compliance with the ‘duty to co-operate’ set out in the Localism Act 
2011.  This places a legal duty on local planning authorities to engage 
constructively and actively, and to address strategic cross-boundary matters in 
preparing Local Plans.  Importantly the duty to co-operate is not a duty to agree 
but rather a commitment to engage in a meaningful and substantive way in 
respect of cross border issues.

1.2 The seven local planning authorities in the Liverpool City Region (Halton, 
Knowsley, Liverpool, St. Helens, Sefton, West Lancashire which is an associate 
member, and Wirral), along with the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
have jointly prepared and are seeking to agree a strategic planning Statement of 
Common Ground.  These authorities will be referred to below as the LCR 
authorities.  The Statement of Common Ground can be seen at 
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/planning-building-control/planning-policy-including-
local-plan-and-neighbourhood-planning/evidence-and-studies/duty-to-co-
operate.aspx.

1.3 The Statement of Common Ground covers the areas of the LCR authorities.  
They consider this to be the most practical geography for the Statement to cover; 
building as it does on a range of existing evidence as well as established working 
arrangements in the LCR. Adopting this Statement does not reduce the signatory 
authorities’ recognition of the need to continue to cooperate and work closely on 
planning matters with other bodies or neighbouring local authorities where 
relevant. Other bodies may be invited to be additional signatories to future 
reviews of this Statement of Common Ground as necessary and appropriate, for 
example the LCR Local Enterprise Partnership, the Environment Agency or 
Homes England. 

1.4 The Statement of Common Ground is in line with national planning policy advice 
and best practice, set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), 
national planning practice guidance and the Local Government Association 
(Planning Advisory Service (PAS)) ‘PAS Statement of Common Ground Draft 
Advice and Template’.   

1.5 Chapters 1-3 of the Statement of Common Ground set out the authorities 
involved, signatories for each Council and strategic geography of the LCR.  The 
Planning Advisory Service’s draft Advice and template states that “The Statement 
of Common Ground needs to be signed by an agreed individual in a leadership 

Page 20

Agenda Item 5

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/planning-building-control/planning-policy-including-local-plan-and-neighbourhood-planning/evidence-and-studies/duty-to-co-operate.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/planning-building-control/planning-policy-including-local-plan-and-neighbourhood-planning/evidence-and-studies/duty-to-co-operate.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/planning-building-control/planning-policy-including-local-plan-and-neighbourhood-planning/evidence-and-studies/duty-to-co-operate.aspx


position from each of the local authorities and strategic bodies. For the local 
planning authorities this will be a Councillor such as a leader or portfolio holder of 
the Council. The signatories give the public commitment that agreement has 
been or will sought to be reached”. It is proposed that the Leader of the Council 
sign the final, approved ‘Statement of Common Ground’ on behalf of Sefton 
Council. 

1.6 Chapter 4 of the Statement of Common Ground sets out the range of relevant 
spatial planning matters.  Points of common ground – either already established, 
or setting out areas where the LCR authorities will work together to deal with 
cross-boundary strategic matters – are highlighted in boxes, alongside with 
supporting text and explanation.  There are 22 points of common ground, 
covering:

 Liverpool City Region Spatial Development Strategy  
 Housing - housing delivery and unmet need
 Employment land – strategic B8 (storage& distribution) sites
 Green Belt
 Retail hierarchy
 Transport planning – rail, roads, Port of Liverpool, Liverpool John 

Lennon Airport
 Digital Inclusion
 Utilities
 Renewables – Mersey Tidal Barrage
 Environment and green infrastructure - protecting internationally 

important habitats, Northern Forest and Mersey Forest, flood and 
coastal erosion risk management, air quality   

 Waste and Minerals.

1.7 Chapter 5 of the Statement of Common Ground explains how the statement will 
be adopted by the signatory authorities. At LCR level it draws on the established 
mechanism for agreeing City Region-wide documents: the LCR Housing and 
Spatial Planning Advisory Group (comprising the Portfolio Holders from each of 
the 6 constituent local authorities and other stakeholders), and the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority (on which Mayor / Leaders of the 6 constituent local 
authorities and the Liverpool City Region Mayor have voting rights). It is also due 
to be adopted by each of the seven LCR local authorities. The LCR Statement of 
Common Ground will be made publicly available on the local authorities’ and 
Combined Authority’s website.

1.8 Chapter 6 of the Statement of Common Ground explains how it will be kept up to 
date.  The Statement of Common Ground is a live document and will be reviewed 
and updated, as determined by the preparation timetables of each authority’s 
Local Plan or if relevant new or updated evidence becomes available. As a 
minimum, the LCR authorities will consider annually if a review is necessary. 
Future versions of the statement will be agreed by the Combined Authority and 
local authorities as outlined above.

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



2 Key strategic, cross-boundary planning issues in the Statement of Common 
Ground 

2.1 The range of relevant cross-boundary spatial planning issues in the SOCG is set 
out in paragraph 1.6 above.  Issues of particular importance to Sefton are 
discussed in more detail below.  

Liverpool City Region Spatial Development Strategy  
2.2 Through the Devolution Deal the Liverpool City Region Mayor is responsible for 

the preparation of a Liverpool City Region Spatial Development Strategy (SDS). 
The policy coverage of the SDS has not been established to date. However the 
LCR Scrutiny Panel review of the SDS recommended that it only covers high 
level strategic issues and left detailed policies to the Local Plans of each 
constituent local authority. The Combined Authority intends to undertake initial 
consultation to inform the scope of SDS’s policies and work collaboratively with 
the constituent local authorities on policy preparation. The 1st point of common 
ground states that: 

“1. This Statement of Common Ground will inform the policy matters to be 
covered by the first Liverpool City Region Spatial Development Strategy 
(SDS) prepared by the Combined Authority. The LCR authorities agree to 
work collaboratively on SDS policy preparation”.

Housing 
2.3 The key cross-boundary housing issues within the LCR are how each authority 

determines its Objectively Assessed Need and, linked to this, whether each 
authority can meet its own needs (or whether they need to be met in other 
districts). Of the 7 authorities, Sefton has the most recently adopted Local Plan 
(2017); its housing needs can be met until the end of the Plan period in 2030.  
The 2nd point of common ground sets agreed parameters for Objectively 
Assessed Need, and states that “………The LCR authorities agree that there is 
no unmet housing need to be redistributed among or beyond the seven local 
authorities during current local plan periods.” and that this will be reviewed in 
future Statements of Common Ground.  

Employment land – strategic B8 (storage& distribution) sites
2.4 The key cross-boundary issue is the need for the LCR authorities to identify 

strategic B8 sites - sites suitable for large scale Class B8 (storage or distribution) 
(at least 397 hectares before 2037). This need is driven substantially by 
transformational growth at the Port of Liverpool, and other inward investment 
opportunities. The LCR authorities have commissioned work to identify potential 
areas and sites to accommodate this demand. This report is due in mid-2019. 
Further work arising from this, including agreed approaches to apportion future 
site supply between the 7 local authorities, will be addressed in later versions of 
the Statement of Common Ground.  The 3rd point of common ground sets out the 
LCR authorities’ agreement to work collaboratively on this.

Green Belt

Page 22

Agenda Item 5



2.5 Since the Merseyside Green Belt was established in 1983, individual authorities 
have reviewed Green Belt boundaries in their own areas through their 
development plans.  There has been no sub-regional review. The 4th point of 
common ground recognises that this approach is likely is to continue and agrees 
both that LCR authorities will continue involving each other closely when 
reviewing their Green Belts and that “If they decide in future that it is necessary to 
conduct a joint strategic review of the Green Belt in the LCR, the reasons and 
agreed approach will be set out in a future Statement of Common Ground”.     

Transport planning – access to the Port of Liverpool
2.6 Transport and land-use have always been interlinked.  Transport links and 

connectivity planned as an integral part of development and regeneration can 
lead to improved quality of life and more economically productive places, where 
people have a genuine choice about how they get around. The Statement of 
Common Ground refers to rail, roads and Transport for the North initiatives, and 
gives particular consideration to the Port of Liverpool (paragraphs 4.22 to 4.26) 
and Liverpool John Lennon Airport.

2.7  The Statement of Common Ground recognises that the Port of Liverpool (in 
Sefton, Liverpool and Wirral) is one of the UK’s top five container ports and the 
leading transatlantic port for the UK, with the largest volume and density of large 
warehousing (over 97,000 ft2/ 9,000m2) of any UK region located within a 70 mile 
radius of Liverpool. It recognises the role of the Manchester Ship Canal, rail 
freight and roads in moving goods.  The 9th point of common ground covers a 
range of issues.  It also reflects the LCR authorities’ commitment to work together 
and to respect the individual concerns of local authorities regarding two broad 
road corridors; the A5036 corridor (within Sefton) and the A580 (‘East Lancs 
Road’ which is outside it):

“9. The LCR authorities support measures to support the growth of the Port 
and its aspirations set out in the Port Master Plan through investment in 
infrastructure, education, training and skills and the environment.

The LCR authorities will continue to work together to address capacity 
issues on the A5036 Dunnings Bridge Road corridor linking the port to the 
motorway network.

The LCR authorities agree that there are junction bottlenecks along the 
A580 (which is a prime corridor for development of new logistics sites to 
support the Port of Liverpool), and will continue to work together to address 
these issues”.

2.8 The related text of the Statement of Common Ground also sets out the current 
position regarding Highways England’s proposals on the wider A5036 Dunnings 
Bridge Road corridor: 

“4.25 The current road access to the Port is constrained due to traffic 
congestion at peak times and will need to be improved during the plan 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



period. The area adjacent to the main entrance to the Port suffers from 
poor air quality. It is recognised that major road improvements to facilitate 
port access will be required in the long term. 

4.26 A scheme has been included in the national Road Investment 
Strategy, and Highways England is developing proposals to improve 
access to the Port of Liverpool and address traffic congestion in the area. A 
new dual carriageway route through the Rimrose Valley was announced as 
the preferred option in 2017. The proposals will be considered directly by 
the Planning Inspectorate through the Development Consent Order 
process for Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects, and the proposals 
are currently at the pre-application stage. The judicial review of the 
consultation process requested by Sefton Council has been dismissed and 
Highways England is continuing to develop its preferred option”.

Digital Inclusion

2.9 The Statement of Common Ground refers to the fact that the LCR Combined 
Authority is actively progressing the intention to create a resilient full fibre network 
interlinking the 6 LCR Local Authority areas, in order to accelerate the 
development of comprehensive local access networks to deliver ultrafast 
connectivity for homes and businesses, unlock major investment, and stimulate 
tech clusters plus growth across all sectors.

2.10 In addition to taking a holistic approach to developing digital infrastructure 
across other LCR policies (energy, planning, housing, skills and transport), a 
defining feature of the approach is the desire to “dig once”, i.e. maximise 
opportunities to install ducting and fibre when the ground is already open for 
other purposes (e.g. Key Route Network upgrades or installation of extensive 
new cycle routes).

Environment and green infrastructure

2.11 The Statement of Common Ground recognises the role and importance of 
the City Region’s natural assets and green infrastructure network, such as 
protecting internationally important habitats, Northern Forest and Mersey Forest, 
flood and coastal erosion risk management and air quality. Of these, protection of 
internationally important habitats (such as the Sefton Coast), and air quality are 
the most important for Sefton.  

2.12 Protecting internationally important habitats – The Statement of Common 
Ground acknowledges that the Habitats Regulations Assessments of 
development plans identified direct impacts and especially the ‘in combination’ 
impact of housing and tourism-related development in increasing recreation 
pressure on the internationally important nature sites on the Sefton and Wirral 
Coasts.  Common ground point 16 is an on-going commitment to address this.   

Page 24

Agenda Item 5



2.13 Air Quality – The Statement of Common Ground refers to the on-going LCR 
air quality study and the recent establishment of an Air Quality Task Force by the 
Combined Authority.  It recognises that:

“4.47 … Vehicle emissions linked to volumes of traffic movement are an 
increasingly important cross-boundary issue for the City Region. Nitrogen 
dioxide (NO2) is still contributing to pollution levels that continue to be 
damaging to public health; and older people, children, people with pre-
existing lung and heart conditions, and people on lower incomes may be 
most at risk. …”

2.14 Accordingly, the 19th point of common ground states that:

“25. The LCR authorities and other partners will work together to address 
cross-boundary air quality issues and to deliver mitigation and measures to 
deliver air quality improvements across the City Region”.

3 Next steps and recommendations  

3.1 The Cabinet are requested to approve the Liverpool City Region ‘Statement of 
Common Ground’, reflecting Sefton’s agreement to the document. Members 
should be aware that while they are agreeing to the current document and the 
points of common ground it sets out, the Statement of Common Ground will be 
subject to review, updating and further approval in the future, as set out in 
paragraph 1.8 above and chapter 6 of the document.

3.2 The Statement of Common Ground also needs to be approved by the other LCR 
authorities and the Combined Authority. These approval processes are due to 
take place in July and September 2019.  While Sefton adopted its Local Plan in 
2017 following an Examination in Public by an independent Inspector, other 
authorities are currently at earlier stages and the Statement of Common Ground 
is necessary evidence to demonstrate they have fulfilled their legal and other 
requirements.

3.3 There is a small risk that during this city region-wide approval process minor 
changes will be proposed (for example, phrasing or typographical/grammatical 
changes).  Cabinet are asked to delegate to the Chief Planning Officer the 
authority to agree minor wording changes to the Statement of Common Ground if 
proposed by other Liverpool City Region Districts or the Combined Authority, 
prior to the signing of the Statement of Common Ground by the Leader of Sefton 
Council.  

3.4 The Cabinet are also requested to authorise the Leader of the Council to sign the 
final, approved ‘Statement of Common Ground’ on behalf of Sefton Council, once 
the document has been approved by the Combined Authority.

3.5 Cabinet are also requested to authorise the Cabinet Member - Planning and 
Building Control to approve and sign, on behalf of Sefton Council, any future 
versions of the Statement of Common Ground in future years. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 25 July 2019

Subject: Single Use Plastics -Update

Report of: Head of Corporate 
Resources

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This report provides Members with an update on the progress made to date in fulfilling 
the Council Motions 19/7/2018 & 25/4/19 in relation to both single use plastics (SUP) and 
intentional balloon and lanterns, the areas that have been identified as delivering an 
immediate impact over the next 2 years and the subsequent work that is planned.

Recommendation(s):

It is recommended that Cabinet 
1. Note the approach taken to the Council motions in respect of Single Use Plastics 

and intentional balloon and lanterns; 
2. Note the progress made to date and specifically the approach the Council will take 

to those Single Use Plastics that are to be the subject of an EU ban in 2021; and   
3. Approve that work continues across the council to further meet the requirements 

of the 2 council motions.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

These recommendations will start the work towards the council meeting the requirements 
of the :-
- Council Motion on Single use plastics 19 July 2018;
- the Council Motion on Intentional balloon and Chinese/sky lantern release 25 April 
2019; and 
- The desire to protect and enhance Sefton’s unique environment

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

 Do nothing
This was not considered an option as plastic waste in our oceans and waterways is a 
real threat to the unique coastal environment in Sefton. Balloon and lantern releases 
pose a threat to livestock and wildlife, as well as being a source of litter across our local 
habitats. The Council believes that the reduction of single-use plastic would benefit 
health in Sefton, reduce waste and ultimately help protect our coast.

Page 27

Agenda Item 6



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A)    Revenue Costs
The councils approach to Single Use Plastics is being led by the Energy & Environmental 
Management Section together with the Communications Team. The teams are utilising 
officer time and materials available without incurring additional cost to the Council. 

There is currently no income derived from balloon or lantern release events organised 
through Sefton’s tourism team or Green Sefton, therefore no loss of income associated 
with this strategy.

(B) Capital Costs
None

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

There are no resource issues arising from the work undertaken to date
Legal Implications:

There are no legal issues arising from the work undertaken to date
Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 

Protect the most vulnerable:  n/a

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: This will help the local community to 
protect their local environment, become more environmentally aware and sustainable. 

Commission, broker and provide core services: n/a

Place – leadership and influencer: The Council will be acting to protect the local 
environment through the actions which will come from this strategy.

Drivers of change and reform:  The Council will be changing the way that it acts across 
a number of areas to achieve a positive environmental outcome.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: n/a

Greater income for social investment:  n/a

Cleaner Greener: The Council will be acting to protect its unique coastal and marine 
environment, as well as the many habitats and species that exist across Sefton.

Page 28

Agenda Item 6



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5701/19) and Chief Legal & Democratic Officer 
(LD4825/19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the 
report.

(B) External Consultations 

Not applicable

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Cabinet meeting. 

Contact Officer: Stephanie Jukes
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4552
Email Address: Stephanie.jukes@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:
There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:
Council Motion 19/7/2018 Single Use Plastics
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=54071&Opt=3

Council Motion 25/4/19 Intentional balloon and Chinese / sky lantern release  
http://smbc-modgov-
01/documents/s89507/Motion%20submiited%20by%20Councillor%20Roscoe%20-
%20Balloon%20Releases.pdf

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 In July 2018, Council considered a motion to tackle the issue of single use 
plastics, in order to address the ecological problems particularly relevant to 
Sefton’s unique coastal environment.   

1.2 It was determined that ‘reducing single use plastic is a key priority with a focus on 
interventions and stewardship to help reduce the quantity of plastic waste 
generated by society and the associated release of litter to the ocean.’

1.3 It was resolved that;

‘The Council believes that the reduction of single-use plastic would benefit health 
in Sefton, reduce waste and ultimately help protect our coast.

 
Council therefore directs Officers to report to Cabinet on:

Page 29

Agenda Item 6

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ieIssueDetails.aspx?IId=54071&Opt=3
http://smbc-modgov-01/documents/s89507/Motion%20submiited%20by%20Councillor%20Roscoe%20-%20Balloon%20Releases.pdf
http://smbc-modgov-01/documents/s89507/Motion%20submiited%20by%20Councillor%20Roscoe%20-%20Balloon%20Releases.pdf
http://smbc-modgov-01/documents/s89507/Motion%20submiited%20by%20Councillor%20Roscoe%20-%20Balloon%20Releases.pdf


 
1.  Development of a robust strategy to ensure Sefton Council works towards 
phasing out single-use plastics (SUP) in its activities and buildings within the next 
two years;

 
2.     Work with partners and other large institutions to encourage them in 
developing similar strategies to reduce SUP: and

 
3.     An ongoing Communications plan to inform the public of Sefton of the 
reasons for phasing out SUP and encourage them to switch to alternatives.’

1.4 In addition to this Motion, a second motion in April 2019, specifically relating to 
intentional balloon and lantern releases was made, which supplements the SUP 
actions, namely that;

‘There is wide ranging evidence of the ‘fallout’ from such releases posing hazards 
to wildlife and livestock causing injury and death. The Council believes that all 
Sefton residents should be discouraged from releasing balloons and lanterns due 
to the damage that is caused to our environments, (particularly to marine life).

 
Council therefore directs Officers to report to Cabinet on:

1. The drawing up of a policy of not permitting the release of balloons and 
Chinese Lanterns from Council-owned land e.g. parks, open spaces, and 
beaches; and any potential financial implications arising from this Motion

2. The Council not endorsing events where balloon and lantern releases are to 
take place.

3. Where Council property is leased to a third party, e.g. schools, the leaseholder
is written to asking them to observe the ban on balloon and Chinese lantern
releases.

4. When leases or licences are renewed, an explicit clause banning balloon and
lantern releases is added.

5. An ongoing communications plan to inform Sefton residents and visitors on the
dangers of balloon and lantern releases and informing them of the alternatives
such as sponsoring a tree or a lighting candle event.’

2.0 Vision

2.1 The Sefton coast is a very special place for nature and one of the most important 
sites in Great Britain, according to Nature Connected 
http://www.natureconnected.org/the-sefton-coast/. The 22 miles of coastline 
provides a home for many very rare/endangered plants and animals with the sand 
flats and estuaries providing safe refuge for over 350,000 birds from the Arctic 
each autumn, winter and spring.

Page 30

Agenda Item 6

http://www.natureconnected.org/the-sefton-coast/


2.2 The Council continues to recognise that this special environment needs to be 
protected from the growing problem of plastic waste appearing due to littering, 
poor waste management and the pollution of water courses. 

2.3 As such the Council believes that the reduction of single-use plastics (SUP) would 
benefit health and wellbeing in Sefton, reduce waste and ultimately help protect 
the coastline. Additionally, the mass intentional release of helium filled latex 
balloons (one form of SUP) and Chinese/sky lanterns pose hazards to wildlife and 
livestock causing injury and death. Lanterns can also cause injury to humans, 
damage to buildings and cause false callouts to the coastguard.

2.4 Whilst the Council recognises that there are limitations in its powers to ban single 
use plastics across the borough, the overall vision is to eliminate the use of SUP 
wherever possible across its assets, and encourage staff, communities, 
businesses and partners to reduce the avoidable use of SUPs too. 

2.5 In accordance with the 2 council motions, the Council will therefore aim to phase 
out avoidable single use plastics in Council buildings and activities by 2020 
wherever possible. This will include a ban on intentional balloon and lantern 
releases from Sefton controlled land.

The Council will also commit to raising awareness of the issues associated with 
SUP use, the Council’s stance on SUP & balloon lantern releases, and will 
encourage the public, businesses, and partners to act responsibly.

3. Progress to date-July 2019

3.1 The Energy & Environmental Management Section has taken responsibility for 
progressing the Council motions. Officers have undertaken some initial research 
on the use and amounts of single use plastic (SUP) across the council, and based 
upon these initial findings, will adopt a staged approach to tackling the various 
types of SUP the Council handle.

3.2 Enquiries regarding balloon and lantern releases suggest that teams across the 
Council, including tourism and green Sefton, do not hold or encourage balloon or 
lantern releases from their land. Work will continue to ensure that all users are 
aware of the ban and that this reflects the council policy as set out in the motion of 
April 2019. 

3.3 In light of the limited activity in relation to balloon and lantern releases, work has 
focussed initially on the use of Single Use Plastics both within the Council and 
those used by partners.  This is a comprehensive piece of work as would be 
expected, therefore the Council has taken the decision to initially focus on those 
Single Use Plastics that are to be banned across the EU from 2021. 

This list is considered to represent avoidable Single Use Plastics and are as 
follows ;
 Cutlery
 Straws
 Drink stirrers

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



 Plates
 Sticks for balloons (and balloons)
 Cups and lids

3.4 As protection of our coastal and marine environment is a key focus to this initial 
work, priority has been given to activity in and around the coastal and natural 
locations in advance of the 2019 summer season.  This will then move to core 
council operations.   As such targeted work has been undertaken in relation to the 
concessions that operate under Sefton licences, namely;
 Food outlets (including take–away) through our food safety teams and 

business investment districts
 Events on the coast and in our parks

3.5    This has led to the Council prohibiting the use of avoidable  Single Use Plastic  in 
concessions awarded in Spring 2019, with progress also being made in prohibiting 
Single Use Plastics in our events. This work is obviously at an early stage and 
progress and impact is currently being monitored through the regular beach and 
park clean up’s that occur in those areas.  This will support an initial evaluation 
exercise in late 2019.  Members should note that income from concessions was 
not affected by the inclusion of the SUP clause.

3.6 As stated, the drive to align with the EU ban on avoidable Single Use Plastics will 
continue and annual reports will be provided to members on progress, however in 
addition during 2019/2020 work will continue in order to;
 Start to eliminate those avoidable Single Use Plastics that are detailed in 
this report from council operational activity
 Develop a network of partners around these issues in order that a Borough 
wide approach can be undertaken where possible
 Gather and improve our evidence of usage of SUP across the Council
 Gather and improve our evidence of locations and plans for balloon & 
lantern releases
 Review waste management in key locations (key coastal sites)
 Continue the inclusion of avoidable SUP requirements in our food 
concession tenders and event licences
 Promotion of SUP issues to schools and partners as part of year of the 
environment
 Raise awareness with partners and the general public; and
 Report back to members on progress and impact at the end of 2019/20

3.7 In order to support this, the Councils communications team is in the process of 
developing a Single Use Plastics communications plan and this is anticipated in 
August 2019.

3.8 Officers have responded positively and quickly to put some key actions into effect, 
with a focus on protecting our coastal environment. Although this work has 
focussed on avoidable Single Used Plastics it is considered that this approach will 
allow the council to demonstrate its intent and commitment to the issue and 
provided the basis to move forward. 

Page 32

Agenda Item 6



3.9 On the rise of the summer 2019 season, Officers will then move to the next stage 
of the work that will ensure that the requirements of the council motions are 
fulfilled.  This will include a comprehensive council wide review of all use of Single 
Use Plastics and the development of plans to eliminate their usage and 
understand the impact on both service delivery (including potentially cost) but 
most importantly the environment.  As stated this work will continue to be the 
subject of annual reports to cabinet.

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 25 July 2019

Subject: Revenues & Benefits - Procurement of Software Solutions

Report of: Head of Corporate 
Resources

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward 

Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This report sets out the background to the Council’s current arrangements for software 
and services for the Revenues and Benefits Service. It also seeks authority to 
commence a procurement exercise for the provision of a new contract for the Revenues 
and Benefits software solution.

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is requested to:

(1) That the Director of Corporate Resources be authorised to conduct a procurement 
exercise for Software Solutions for the Revenues and Benefits Services, with a view 
to entering into a contract for a maximum of 7 years comprising of an initial 5 year 
period with an option to extend for up to 2 periods of 12 months; and

(2) That the Head of Corporate Resources in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services be granted delegated authority to 
award the contract resulting from the procurement exercise and to award any 
extension thereof.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

(1) To have appropriate and best value contractual arrangements in place for the
      Revenues and Benefits service 

(2) The functional requirements for the Revenues and Benefits service are evolving due 
     to channel shift and a move towards greater automation.  The future software solution 
     should deliver the highest level of self-service and achieve the Council’s needs for 
     service performance and cost reduction in line with the overall Customer Strategy

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



(3)  Undertaking this process will comply with all procurement legislation and ICT 
contract management strategy. 

(4)  There is a risk that any transition to a new software solution would disrupt Revenues 
and Benefits service delivery. The Council must avoid interruption to service delivery 
and a key requirement for any proposed replacement or enhanced software solution 
would be a smooth transition. Suppliers will be asked to confirm how a transition to 
new solutions will be achieved to minimise disruption to service delivery. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

There is the option for the Council to continue to operate with the existing software 
solution in the Revenues and Benefits service. The current software systems have been 
in place for many years, although various software upgrades and new modules have 
been implemented to incorporate legislative changes or additions to functionality. 
Continuing with existing software systems would not allow the Council the opportunity to 
test the market for the most modern and cost-effective solutions for Revenues and 
Benefits.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

It is anticipated that the contract for the Revenues and Benefits software system will be 
within the current budget available. 

Providing that Cabinet agrees the proposed procurement route detailed later within this 
report, the maximum contract call off length is five-years with an optional extension 
period of up to maximum of two additional twelve-month periods.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
Staff from Revenues and Benefits, the ICT Client Team and the Procurement Team will 
be required to develop a specification and tender detailing the Council’s requirements 
for the Revenues and Benefits software solution. Legal colleagues will provide specific 
advice throughout the procurement exercise.

Depending on the outcome of the procurement exercise, there is the potential 
requirement for staff from Revenues and Benefits and the ICT Client team to develop 
and implement transition plans, e.g. to manage data migration, local configuration, user 
acceptance testing, staff training and the development of new operational working 
procedures.  

Legal Implications:
Revenues and Benefits software systems enable the Council to meet its statutory 
obligations in terms of service delivery and statutory reporting requirements.

The Council must also comply with procurement legislation and associated legal terms 
Page 36

Agenda Item 7



and conditions.

Equality Implications: 

Accessibility standards will form part of the procurement to ensure that software 
solutions provide equality of access for all residents. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: The Benefits Service administers help to low income and 
vulnerable residents and has an important role in supporting those households.   It is 
essential that the Service has software solutions in place to deliver the highest-level of 
service whilst achieving the Council’s needs for performance and cost-reduction.
Facilitate confident and resilient communities: The Revenues Service is central to the 
Council’s revenues; Business Rates and Council Tax are the largest items of revenue to 
the Council. It is essential that the Service has software solutions in place to maximise 
income collection whilst achieving the Council’s needs for performance and cost-
reduction.
Commission, broker and provide core services:  Robust, effective Revenues and 
Benefits software solutions are essential for the Council to deliver these core services.

Place – leadership and influencer: Not applicable

Drivers of change and reform: The requirements of the Revenues and Benefits service 
is evolving because of channel shift and a move towards greater automation. The 
current systems have had some level of enhancement to incorporate some on-line 
functionality and self-service options.  The future approach must deliver the highest 
level of self-service to achieve business needs for performance and cost reduction.  In 
addition, software solutions must retain essential functionality in respect of Housing 
Benefit during the introduction of the Department for Work and Pension’s Universal 
Credit scheme.   
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: The potential for added Social Value, 
including the economic wellbeing of residents and businesses using the Council’s 
Revenues and Benefits service, will be considered as part of the procurement exercise.

Greater income for social investment: Not applicable

Cleaner Greener: Not applicable

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD5704/19) and the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD4828/19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated 
into the report.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting. 

Contact Officer: Diane Turner
Telephone Number: 0151 934 3481
Email Address: diane.turner22@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 Cabinet is aware that the Council outsourced a number of services, including 
Revenues and Benefits, supplied by an external provider for a 10-year period  
between 1st October 2008 – 30 September 2018.  

1.2      During the period that the external provider managed the Revenues and Benefits        
service, contracts for software systems were renewed on an annual basis. 

1.3      At the end of this contract, 267 ICT contracts were transferred from the external 
provider to the Council, including those contracts for Revenues and Benefits 
service software systems, i.e. the core financial processing system 

           and the electronic document records management (EDRM) and workflow system.

1.4     It is likely that the existing contractual arrangements may not represent the best 
          value for money as they have not been subject to market testing for many years.   

1.5     The contracts that transferred to the Council for Revenues and Benefits software 
systems are currently in place until 31st March 2020 and until now have been 
renewed on a rolling-basis. These systems are complex and will have been the 
subject of major council led implementation projects that spanned a number of 
years, required significant development and upfront capital costs. Typically, these 
systems are replaced ‘once in a generation’ e.g. every 15 years and would be the 
key systems that require business continuity plans and are used by many local
authorities with similar responsibilities.  

1.6     It is therefore proposed to commence a procurement exercise for a Revenues and 
          Benefits core processing system and a document management and workflow 
          system to comply with the Council’s contract procedure rules, to offer value for 

money and ensure that service delivery remains efficient and effective.   A small 
project team of key officers from the Revenues and Benefits service, the ICT 
Client Team, Legal and the Procurement Team will oversee both the procurement 
exercise and the transition to the new solution.     

1.7    Revenues and Benefits service delivery is governed by complex legislation which 
         requires that software systems are fully compliant; there are only a small number of 

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



         suppliers in this specialist market area. 

2.      Proposed Procurement Route

2.1    Following discussions with the Council’s Procurement Team and initial discussions 
         with Revenues and Benefits software suppliers, the recommendation is that a 
         Crown Commercial Services (CCS) framework is used for this procurement. 

2.2   The CCS framework is Agreement RM3821 – Data and Application Solutions, Lot 
        2a, Business Applications, Revenue and Benefit systems, payment processes, civil 
        enforcement systems. 

2.3   The Data and Applications Solutions framework agreement is available to public 
        sector organisations. The maximum contract call off length is five-years with an 
        optional extension period of up to maximum of two additional twelve-month periods.

2.3   The framework offers two purchasing options:

         1) Option 1: run a further competition  

          2) Option 2: Use the Government eMarketplace to complete a direct award. 

2.4   Following a review of the framework guidance and terms, it is proposed that the 
        Council’s approach will be to conduct a further competition in line with Option 1 to 
        identify the most economically advantageous tender taking into consideration a 
        balance between quality and cost.
        
2.5   This approach will provide officers with the opportunity to fully specify the Council’s 
        requirements, invite quotations and compare offers and prices to 
        identify a supplier who can provide high-quality services at a competitive cost. 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 25 July 2019

Subject: Revenue and Capital Budget Update - Treasury Management 
Outturn 2018/19

Report of: Head of Corporate 
Resources

Wards Affected: All Wards

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This outturn report provides Members with details of the treasury management activities 
undertaken to 31st March 2019. Cabinet receives this outturn report to allow review 
against the Treasury Management Policy & Strategy and Prudential Indicators. This 
report is also provided to Audit & Governance Committee, whose role it is to carry out 
scrutiny of treasury management policies and practices.

Recommendation(s):

Members are requested to note the Treasury Management position to 31st March 2019 
and the update to 31st May 2019, to review the effects of decisions taken in pursuit of the 
Treasury Management Strategy and to consider the implications of changes resulting 
from regulatory, economic and market factors affecting the Council’s treasury 
management activities.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To ensure that Members are fully apprised of the treasury activity undertaken to 31st 
March 2019 and to 31st May 2019 in order to meet the reporting requirements set out in 
Sefton’s Treasury Management Practices and those recommended by the CIPFA code. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

N/A

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



(A) Revenue Costs
None

(B) Capital Costs
None

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
None

Legal Implications:
The Council has a statutory duty under the Local Government Act 2003 to review its 
Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Activities.

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: n/a

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: n/a

Commission, broker and provide core services: n/a

Place – leadership and influencer: Support strategic planning and promote innovative, 
affordable and sustainable capital investment projects through application of the CIPFA 
Prudential Code.

Drivers of change and reform: The Treasury Management function ensures that cash 
flow is adequately planned and cash is available when needed by the Council for 
improvements to the borough through its service provision and the Capital Programme.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:  Pursuit of optimum performance on 
investments activities and minimising the cost of borrowing and the effective 
management of the associated risk continues to contribute to a balanced budget for the 
Council.

Greater income for social investment: n/a

Cleaner Greener: n/a

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

Page 42

Agenda Item 8



(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD 5669/19) is the author of the report.

The Chief Legal & Democratic Officer (LD4793/19) has been consulted and has no 
comments on the report.

(B) External Consultations 

The Council’s external Treasury Management Advisors: Link Asset Services have 
provided advice with regards to Treasury Management activities undertaken during the 
financial year.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the meeting.

Contact Officer: Graham Hussey
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4100
Email Address: Graham.Hussey@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

None

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



BACKGROUND:

1. Introduction

1.1. The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (The 
Prudential Code) was introduced following the Local Government Act 2003.  The 
Prudential Code details a number of measures / limits / parameters (Prudential 
Indicators) that, to comply with legislation, must be set in respect of each financial 
year to ensure that the Council is acting prudently and that its capital expenditure 
proposals are affordable. 

1.2. A requirement of the Prudential Code is the reporting to Cabinet and Full Council 
of the outturn position of indicators following the end of the financial year.  In 
accordance with this requirement, this report outlines the 2018/19 outturn for the 
following Prudential Indicators:-

i. Capital Expenditure (Section 2);
ii. Capital Financing Requirement (Section 3.1);
iii. Gross Borrowing and the CFR (Section 3.2);
iv. Borrowing Limits (Section 3.3);
v. Financing Costs as a proportion of Net Revenue Stream (Section 3.4);
vi. Treasury Management Indicators (Section 6).

1.3. The Treasury Management Policy and Strategy Statements are agreed annually 
by the Council as part of the budget process.  A requirement of the Policy 
Statement is the reporting to Cabinet and Full Council of the results of the 
Council’s treasury management activities in the previous year.  Treasury 
management in this context is defined as:

‘The management of the authority’s cash flows, its banking, money market and 
capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.’

1.4. In accordance with the above this report outlines the results of treasury 
management activities undertaken in 2018/19 covering the following issues:

- borrowing strategy and practice
- compliance with Treasury Limits
- compliance with Prudential Indicators
- investment strategy and practice.

1.5. The results of treasury management activities in 2018/19 are reflected in the net 
expenditure on Capital Financing Costs included within the Council’s Revenue 
Budget. 

1.6. The Capital Programme is also agreed annually as part of the budget process. It 
sets out the anticipated capital expenditure to be incurred within the year. 

Page 44

Agenda Item 8



2. Capital Expenditure

2.1. The original estimate for 2018/19 expenditure together with the actual capital 
expenditure calculated on an accruals basis for the financial year is as follows:

2.2. Capital Programme expenditure in 2018/19 was £22.961m and is less than the 
original budget estimate. The variation is due to the re-profiling of some major 
programmes in Highways and Public Protection, School’s maintenance and 
improvement, and the Disabled Facilities Grant.

3. The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need

3.1. Capital Financing Requirement

3.1.1. The Capital Financing Requirement reflects the Authority’s underlying need to 
borrow for capital purposes and is based on historic capital financing decisions 
and the borrowing requirement arising from the financing of actual capital 
expenditure incurred in 2018/19.

3.1.2. The Council is currently internally borrowed meaning it temporarily uses its own 
cash balances to fund some capital schemes instead of external borrowing which 
saves the cost of interest payments on loans. This reflects the current national low 
interest rates for investment of cash balances and the need to find savings for the 
revenue budget.

3.1.3. The actual level of Total Capital Financing Requirement as at 31st March 2019 is 
lower than the estimate. This is due to Capital Expenditure being lower than the 
initial estimate as mentioned in paragraph 2.2 (above).

3.2. Gross Borrowing and the CFR

3.2.1. CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities includes the 
following statement as a key factor of prudence:

“In order to ensure that over the medium-term debt will only be for a capital purpose, the 
local authority should ensure that debt does not, except in the short term, exceed the total 
of capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial years.”

2018/19 Budget
£m

Actual
£m

 Capital Expenditure 31.010 22.961

2018/19 Estimate
£m

Actual
£m

 Capital Financing Requirement 236.571 231.762

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



3.2.2. In the report to Cabinet in March 2018, it was stated that the Authority would 
comply with this requirement in 2018/19.  During the financial year, gross 
external borrowing did not exceed the total of the Capital Financing 
Requirement. The chart below shows the out-turn position compared to the 

original estimate:

3.3.  Borrowing Limits

2018/19
£m

Authorised limit 177.000

Operational boundary 167.000

Maximum Gross Borrowing Position 167.272

3.3.1. The Operational Boundary sets a boundary on the total amount of long term 
borrowing that the Council should enter into. It reflects an estimate of the 
Authority’s current commitments, existing capital expenditure plans, and is 
consistent with its approved Treasury Management Policy Statement and 
practices.

3.3.2. The Authorised Limit sets a limit on the amount of external borrowing (both short 
and long term) that the Council can enter into. It uses the Operational Boundary 
as its base but also includes additional headroom to allow for exceptional cash 
movements.

3.3.3. The Maximum Gross Borrowing Position shows the highest level of actual 
borrowing undertaken during 2018/19 financial year. This level did not exceed the 
Authorised limit. 

3.3.4. A minor increase above the operational boundary occurred during April 2018 due 
to new borrowing undertaken at the end of 2017/18 financial year. The gross 
borrowing position then dropped below the boundary by 25th April 2018 as capital 
was repaid on loans, and remained below the operational limit for the rest of the 
year. Minor variations above the operational boundary are permitted under the 
Prudential Code provided they occur on an occasional rather than regular basis.

156.8 157.9

Estimate Actual
0.0

50.0

100.0

150.0

200.0

250.0
236.6 231.8

Gross Debt
CFR

Gross Debt and the CFR 2018/19
£m

Page 46

Agenda Item 8



3.4. Financing Costs as a Proportion of Net Revenue Stream

3.4.1. This indicator measures the financing costs of capital expenditure as a proportion 
of the net resource expenditure of the General Fund.

3.4.2. The overall ratio is as anticipated, being only marginally different (0.1%) to the 
original forecast showing that the Council’s capital financing remains at an 
affordable level. 

4. Borrowing Strategy and Practice

4.1. The Council’s current debt portfolio can be summarised as follows:

  

4.2. The Council’s PWLB debt activity during 2018/19 is summarised in the following 
table:

4.3. The policy of internally borrowing, running down the Authority’s cash balances 
rather than taking out new borrowing, continued with regards to the Capital 

Actual Debt Outstanding 31st March 2018
£m

31st March 2019
£m

PWLB 154.687 148.692

Finance Leases 9.083 6.129

Merseyside Residuary Body 3.502 3.063

TOTAL 167.272 157.884

Average PWLB Interest Rate in Year 3.71% 3.86%

Movement in Year Actual
£m

PWLB opening debt 1st April 2018 154.687

Less principal repayments (5.995)

Add new borrowing 0

Closing PWLB debt 31st March 2019 148.692

Financing 
Costs 

£7.96m 
(3.5%)Total Net 

Revenue 
Stream 
£224.90

m

Actual 2018/19Financing 
Costs 

£7.43m  
(3.6%)

Total Net 
Revenue 
Stream 

£209.30m

Estimate 2018/19

Page 47

Agenda Item 8



Programme in 2019/20 as no new expenditure was financed from external 
borrowing.

5. Debt Maturity Profile

5.1. This is a profile measuring the amount of borrowing that is fixed rate maturing in 
each period as a percentage of total borrowing that is fixed rate:

 

5.2. As can be seen our debt profile highlights that most of our debt is due to mature in 
15 years and above, reflecting the internal borrowing position of the Council. 

6. Compliance with Treasury Limits

6.1. The following Treasury Limits were approved by Council during the 2018/19 
Budget Setting process:

6.1.1 During the financial year the Council operated within the agreed borrowing limits. 
No short term borrowing or borrowing subject to variable rates was undertaken. 

6.2. Non-Specified Investment Indicator

Fixed Rate Debt Maturity Upper
Limit

Lower
Limit

Actual
31st March 2019

Under 12 months 35% 0% 4%
12 months and within 24 months 40% 0% 2%
24 months and within 5 years 40% 0% 24%
5 years and within 10 years 40% 0% 15%
10 years and within 15 years 40% 0% 17%
15 years and above 90% 25% 38%

Treasury Limits Limit
£m

Max. Borrowing 
2018/19

£m

Authorised Borrowing Limit 177.000 167.272

Short Term Borrowing Limit 15.0 0.0

Proportion of external borrowing
subject to variable interest rates 20% 0%

Upper Limit Limit
 Max. Investment 

2018/19
£m

Non-specified Investments 40% 32%

Page 48

Agenda Item 8



6.2.1. An investment of £5m was made in 2014 with the Church, Charities and Local 
Authorities (CCLA) Property Fund. This sum remains within the limit for 
investments greater than 1 year as a proportion of total investments. 

7. Investment Strategy and Practice

7.1. The Council invests all available cash balances, which includes school balances 
and the insurance fund, following a policy of obtaining maximum returns whilst 
minimising risks.

  
i. Externally Managed Investments
      No externally managed funds are held.  

ii. Internally Managed Investments
       The Council’s available funds during the year averaged £35.1m and were

                 managed internally with advice from our Treasury Consultants.

7.2. The level of the Council’s investments during 2018/19 and comparable figures from 
the previous year are summarised in the following table:

7.3. In 2018/19 a weighted average return of 1.28% was achieved. This is more than 
the benchmark 7 day LIBID figure of 0.51% and is considered to be an acceptable 
return. The majority of the funds are invested with banks and Money Market Funds 
(MMF’s), with the remaining balance of £5m invested with the CCLA Property Fund. 
The return of 1.28% can be disaggregated into a return of 0.68% on bank and MMF 
investments, whilst 4.38% was returned by the CCLA investment.

7.4. The year on year increase in the average return on investments reflects a minor 
improvement in Money Market Fund rates over the past 12 months. The actual 
performance of investments has therefore over-achieved against the total budget 
for 2018/19 as follows:

Investments 2017/18 2018/19

Total Investment of Cash 
Balances at year end £15.42m £18.00m

Average Investment Balance 
during the year £34.50m £35.10m

Average Return on Investments 1.10% 1.28%

Budget Profile Budget
£m

Actual
£m

Variance
£m

Outturn 2018/19 0.375 0.453 0.078

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



8. Treasury Position for 2019/20 – Update to 31st May 2019

8.1. Investments Held

8.1.1. Investments held to 31st May 2019 comprise to the following:

Institution Deposit Rate Maturity Rating
£m %

Money Market Funds:
Aberdeen 2.880 0.72 n/a AAA
Aviva 2.880 0.76 n/a AAA
BNP Paribas 2.880 0.65 n/a AAA
Goldman Sachs 1.100 0.71 n/a AAA
Invesco 2.880 0.77 n/a AAA
Federated Investors 2.600 0.77 n/a AAA
Insight 2.600 0.75 n/a AAA

Total 17.820
Fixed Term Deposits:
Lloyds 3.000 1.05 10/02/2020 A+
Coventry Building Society 3.000 0.92 11/11/2019 A-

Total 6.000
Property Fund:
CCLA 5.000 4.27 n/a n/a

Total 5.000

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 28.820

8.1.2. The above cash balances represent the full range of earmarked reserves such as 
school’s balances.

8.1.3. All of the investments made since April 2019 have been with organisations on the 
current counterparty list. The maximum level of investment permitted in the 
Treasury Management Strategy in any one institution, or banking group, is 
currently £25m. Whilst the maximum should be retained, in case economic 
conditions change, a day to day operational maximum of 10% of the total portfolio 
is currently being imposed for specified investments. This will spread the risk for 
the Council, but will have a small detrimental impact on the returns the Council will 
receive in the future. The Council has remained within that boundary during the 
year. At present, it is not expected that there will be any need to review this limit.

8.1.4. The Council will only invest in institutions that hold a minimum Fitch rating of A- for 
banking institutions, or AAA for money market funds. The ratings applied to 
investment grade institutions, and the much riskier speculative grade institutions, 
as defined by Fitch, have been placed into a risk matrix (paragraph 8.1.7.).

8.1.5. An investment has been made with the Church, Charities and Local Authority 
Investment Fund (CCLA) in June 2014. CCLA invest in commercial property which 
is rented out to enterprises as retail units, warehousing, and offices. The majority 

Page 50

Agenda Item 8



of properties owned are in the south of the country where the market is currently 
more buoyant than the north. The Council has in effect bought a share of the 
property portfolio, and returns paid are in the region of 4%. This is seen as a long 
term investment with the potential for capital growth of the investment as property 
prices potentially increase. However, when the investment is made fees are 
deducted from the initial investment hence in the first year any income received 
covers these fees.

8.1.6. The Net Asset Value (NAV) of the Property Fund has increased over a 12 month 
period to April 2019 from 303.09p per unit to 306.50p per unit, an increase of 
1.1%. The rate of inflation (CPI) to the end of April was 2.0% by comparison 
hence the value of the investment growth is marginally lower although the income 
received at a yield rate of 4.27% does represent a real return. 

8.1.7. The matrix below shows how the Council has set its risk appetite by being risk 
averse and putting security and liquidity before yield:

PROBABLITY of 
DEFAULT High

INCREASING 
YIELD

High

F1 A+            
6

F2             
12

F3                 
18

B             
24

C             
30

D             
36

F1 A+             
5

F2           
10

F3            
15

F3             
20

B             
25

C             
30

F1+/AA-                              
4

F1 A                    
8

F2                                 
12                    

F3                       
16                     

F3             
20

B             
24 

F1+/AA                
3

F1  A+                                        
6

F1 A-                      
9
£3.00m

F2                                     
12                    

F3             
15

F3                 
18

F1+/AA+                
2

F1+/AA-                
4         

F1  A+                                        
6
£3.00m

F1 A                          
8

F2           
10

F2             
12

F1+/AAA               
1    
£17.82m

F1+/AA+                    
2

F1+/AA              
3

F1+/AA-                      
4

F1 A+            
5

F1 A+            
6

Low High
SEVERITY of 
CONSEQUENCE

SEFTON RISK TOLERANCE:

Risk Level Score Grade Amount Invested

LOW 1 - 4 Investment Grade £17.82m

LOW - MEDIUM 5 - 9 Investment Grade £6.00m

MEDIUM 10 - 20 Investment Grade £0

HIGH 21 - 36 Speculative Grade £0

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



8.1.8. The ratio of overnight deposits (short term) to fixed term investments is shown 
below:

8.1.9. Two new fixed term investments have been made since the last quarterly report. 
Two amounts of £3m have been placed, one for 9 months with Lloyds Bank and 
one for 6 months with Coventry Building Society. 

8.1.10. The Council will continue to maximise any investment opportunities as they arise, 
but in light of the current cash flow forecast it is not envisaged that any substantial 
increase in returns can be achieved for the remainder of the current financial year 
as cash balances available for investment are forecast to be relatively low. 

8.2. Interest Earned

8.2.1. The actual performance of investments against the profiled budget to the end of 
May 2019 and the forecast performance of investments against total budget at 
year end is shown below:

8.2.2. There is no significant variation in forecast investment income as at the end of 
May 2019.

8.2.3. There has been some improvement in investment rates since the Bank of England 
base rate increase was announced in August 2018. As mentioned in paragraph 

Budget Profile Budget
£m

Actual
£m

Variance
£m

May-19 0.036 0.032 0.004

Budget Profile Budget
£m

Forecast
£m

Variance
£m

Outturn 2019/20 0.165 0.165 0.000

Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18Sep-18Oct-18Nov-18Dec-18Jan-19Feb-19Mar-19Apr-19May-19
0.0
5.0

10.0
15.0
20.0
25.0
30.0
35.0
40.0
45.0

Property Fund Fixed term Short term

Fixed and Short Term Investments

£m

Page 52

Agenda Item 8



8.1.10 however, it is not envisaged that improved rates will lead to a significant 
increase in the current forecast income from investments during 2019/20.

8.2.4. The Council has achieved an average rate of return on its investments of 1.6% 
that has out-performed the 7 day LIBID and the model portfolio provided by Link 
Asset Services to the end of May 2019.

* Link’s data only available to April 2019 at the time of writing

Ju
n-1

8
Ju

l-1
8

Aug
-18

Sep
-18

Oct-
18

Nov
-18

Dec
-18

Ja
n-1

9

Feb
-19

Mar-
19

Apr-
19

May
-19

0.0
0.2
0.4
0.6
0.8
1.0
1.2
1.4
1.6
1.8

Sefton 7 Day LIBID Link

Comparison of Investment Rates

%

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 25 July 2019

Subject: Revenue and Capital Budget Update - Revenue Budget Outturn 
2018/19

Report of: Head of Corporate 
Resources

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To inform Cabinet of the revenue outturn position in relation to the 2018/2019 financial 
year.  In doing so the report will outline any key variations and where appropriate any 
impact on future years’ financial performance.  

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is recommended to: -
 
1. Note the General Fund net surplus of £0.330m for 2018/19 that will be added to 

the Council’s General Balances; 

2. Note the reduction in Schools’ balances of £1.808m for 2018/19 and the net 
reduction of non-schools centrally retained DSG balances of £0.745m; and,

3. Note the approved increases to Earmarked Reserves in 2018/19, the release of 
reserves no longer required in order to contribute to the remedial plan to mitigate 
against the budget pressures being experienced in 2018/19, and the final position 
at the end of the year.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The production of a revenue outturn report is a key feature of effective financial 
management and will allow Members to make informed decisions that will support 
service delivery and medium term financial sustainability.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)
N/A

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
All financial implications are reflected within the report

(B) Capital Costs
All financial implications are reflected within the report

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
None

Legal Implications:
None

Equality Implications:

None

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:
Effective Financial Management and the development and delivery of sustainable annual 
budgets support each theme of the Councils Core Purpose.

Protect the most vulnerable:
N/A

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
N/A

Commission, broker and provide core services:
N/A

Place – leadership and influencer:
N/A

Drivers of change and reform:
N/A

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
N/A

Greater income for social investment: 
N/A

Cleaner Greener
N/A

Page 56

Agenda Item 9



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources is the author of the report (FD 5711/19)

The Head of Regulation and Compliance has been consulted and any comments have 
been incorporated into the report (LD 4835/19).

(B) External Consultations 

N/A

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

(Please delete as appropriate and remove this text)

Contact Officer: Paul Reilly
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4106
Email Address: paul.reilly@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 57

Agenda Item 9



1.     Introduction
 
1.1 The report details the revenue outturn position for the financial year 2018/19 and 

provides details of the major variations within that position for the General Fund 
and Schools’ Delegated Budgets. The Capital Outturn report for 2018/19 is 
presented separately on today’s agenda and this report should be read in 
conjunction with that document.

2 General Fund Revenue Outturn 2018/2019
 
2.1    The Council has completed the closure of the Authority’s Accounts for 2018/19 and 

submitted the Statement of Accounts to Ernst & Young for audit.  The timeframe for 
the overall closure of accounts process is as follows:

 Draft Statement of Accounts issued – 30 May 2019
 Audit & Governance Committee receive draft accounts – 19 June 2019
 External Audit Review – Planned completion 12 July 2019
 Audit and Governance Committee receive Final Accounts- 24 July 2019

2.2   The outturn figures for 2018/19 are explained in more detail in section 3 but can be 
summarised as follows (note that the figures are presented in a format based on 
the Council’s management structure at the start of the financial year. This is in line 
with the budget monitoring reports presented to Cabinet during 2018/19 and the 
Statement of Accounts):

Net Revenue Expenditure Budget Actual Variance
£m £m £m

Services

Strategic Management 3.049 3.049 0.000

Strategic Support Unit 3.026 3.013 -0.013

Adult Social Care 95.397 95.910 0.513
Children's Social Care 28.137 33.443 5.306
Communities 8.055 7.737 -0.318
Corporate Resources 5.634 5.037 -0.597
Health and Wellbeing 22.509 21.795 -0.714
Inward Investment and Employment 2.447 3.000 0.553
Locality Services - Commissioned 20.044 20.217 0.173
Locality Services - Provision 10.533 11.245 0.712
Regeneration and Housing 4.666 4.026 -0.640

Regulation and Compliance 3.779 3.888 0.109
Schools and Families 22.760 24.170 1.410

Other Services 3.189 3.171 -0.018

Total Service Net Expenditure 233.225 239.701 6.476

Page 58

Agenda Item 9



Reversal of Capital Charges -13.353 -13.353 -
Corporate Items 3.354 0.347 -3.007
Levies 33.255 33.255 -
Parish Precepts 1.026 1.026 -

Total Net Expenditure 257.507 260.976 3.469

Financed by:
Council Tax Payers -128.232 -128.232 -
Business Rates Top-Up -24.653 -24.653 -
Retained Business Rates -70.420 -70.420 -
General Government Grants -34.202 -36.078 -1.876

Total Financing -257.507 -259.383 -1.876

Amount Funded from General 
Balances

0.000 1.593 1.593

3   General Fund Revenue Outturn 2018/2019 – Variation Analysis  
 

3.1   As shown in section 2, the outturn for 2018/2019 shows that there was a transfer 
from General Balances of £1.593m as opposed to the use of General Balances of 
£1.923m that was budgeted for (this represents an underspend of £0.330m). This 
related to the approval at Cabinet in July 2018 for the 2017/18 revenue outturn 
surplus to be utilised to support the 2018/19 budget. 

3.2    This reflects service expenditure exceeding the approved budget by £6.476m, 
however, with a surplus of £4.883m on the Council’s corporate budgets a lower 
level of General Balances were required to support the budget. Therefore, a surplus 
was delivered and an increase in balances has been achieved compared to what 
had been assumed.

3.3   As would be expected, during the financial year, there has been a number of 
significant variations in individual services. The major variances are highlighted in 
the following paragraphs: - 

3.3.1 Adult Social Care – The outturn position for the Adult Social Care service 
showed a net deficit of £0.513m. There were a number of significant variations 
within the service as outlined below:

 The employee budget was in surplus by £0.574m due to natural staff 
turnover resulting in vacancy savings during the year. 

 A surplus of £0.619m was generated on the Specialist Transport budget 
reflecting the continued reduction in transport requirements following the 
Day Care modernisation programme.

 Capitalisation of Community Equipment expenditure, totalling £0.248m, 
released revenue resources to assist with service pressures

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



 The Community Care budget was in a deficit position of £1.976m due to 
continued demand and cost pressures during the year.

3.3.2 Children’s Social Care - Children’s Social Care overspent in 2018/19 by 
£5.306m. This level of overspend was forecast consistently through the year. 
Major variations included overspending of £5.612m on Placements and Packages.  
This budget is demand led, and as such, is particularly volatile, depending on the 
increasing numbers of children becoming looked after and where they are placed 
(the number of looked after children increased from 480 at the start of the year to 
525 by the end of the year). There were particular pressures on Residential 
Agency Placements, with an overspend of £3.603m. Legal costs were also 
overspent by £0.345m. The overspend position on placements and packages was 
partially offset however, by the general level of vacancies generated across the 
service through staff turnover, which generated an underspending of around 
£0.460m. Other mitigating income included grant income above budget and other 
small variations of -£0.191m.

3.3.3 Communities - the outturn position for Communities in 2018/19 was a net surplus 
of £0.318m, mainly due to vacant posts across The Atkinson and Libraries and 
underspending on running expenses and income from events.

 
3.3.4 Corporate Resources – The surplus of £0.597m for Corporate Resources 

primarily relates to savings made against staffing budgets which is due to posts 
being held vacant in order to contribute to the overall budget pressures faced by 
the Council. 

3.3.5 Health & Wellbeing – A net surplus of £0.714m was brought about primarily due 
to a surplus of £0.204m being achieved as a result of the Substance Misuse 
contract being recommissioned, vacancy savings within Public Health of £0.150m 
and Business Rates reductions at sports centres, including refunds, of £0.246m.

3.3.6 Inward Investment and Employment – A net deficit of £0.533m occurred within 
the service.  This was primarily due to a deficit on Southport Market due to 
reduced occupancy rates and an overspend on Southport Theatre and 
Conference Centre of £0.263m due to the costs associated with a change in 
operator. 

3.3.7 Locality Services - Commissioned – There was an overall deficit of £0.173m on 
this service, mainly relating to additional unanticipated highways maintenance 
expenditure at the end of the year.

3.3.8 Locality Services - Provision – The service ended the year a deficit of £0.712m. 
Although Catering Services was in surplus by £0.209m (largely as a result of a 
price increase and a successful trading year with schools), there were also a 
number of reported deficits including Cleansing (£0.166m), Security Services 
(£0.486m) and Burials and Cremations (£0.327m). The issues affecting these 
services were as follows:

 The Cleansing service deficit is partially due to increased costs of bin 
provision for new properties and the undertaking of additional works across 
the Borough.

Page 60

Agenda Item 9



 The deficit within the Security Service was a reflection of an under recovery 
of income to support the cost base.  This aspect will be addressed in 
2019/20. 

 The financial performance of the Burials service has been compromised by 
a reduction in the number of cremations. This is primarily due to the 
completion of a private cremation facility in Burscough.

Due to the size and diverse nature of this overspend a full base budget review 
has been undertaken to reduce the inherent budget issue. This has 
significantly reduced the overspend from £1.970m in 2017/18.  This area of 
the Council’s budget will continue to be the subject of robust financial 
management and monitoring during the year to confirm the deliverability of 
remedial actions and this will be reported to Members.

3.3.9 Regeneration & Housing - A net surplus of £0.640m was generated as a result 
of:

 A reduction in staffing expenditure of £0.115m due to vacancies and receipt 
of funding for employees’ services.

 Improved income and funding of £0.526m, received for planning and 
building control activities.

3.3.10   Regulation & Compliance - A net deficit of £0.109m occurred due to:

 Increase in the cost of electoral services following the fall out of a national 
grant (£0.294m).

 Improved income of £0.134m in relation to licensing.

3.3.11   Schools & Families - Schools and Families overspent in 2018/19 by £1.410m.  
This deficit position was primarily due to the Home to School specialist 
transport budget being overspent by £1.817m. This was partially offset by a 
surplus across Family Support services of £0.197m relating to planned 
savings contributing towards PSR2 and the use of £0.145m of one-off 
balances identified during the year to help mitigate the Council’s overall 
financial position.

3.3.12   Corporate Items / Other Government Grants: Budget Monitoring reports 
presented to Cabinet during the year highlighted various items that were being 
used to support the budget pressures that were being experienced. A net 
surplus of £4.883m has mainly been achieved from the following:

 Additional Adult Social Care Support Grant allocation announced by the 
Government late in the budget process - £0.953m; 

 The impact of the change in VAT liability of certain leisure fees and charges 
being introduced earlier than previously anticipated - £0.700m;

 Additional ASC Grant in 2018/19 utilised to offset forecast demand 
pressures - £1.110m;

Page 61

Agenda Item 9



 Additional Business Rates s31 Grants - £0.750m; 
 Business Rates refunds on Council establishments - £0.350m;
 Review of Reserves and Balances - £0.680m.

3.4   As a result of the variations detailed within this report the overall Council-wide 
surplus generated in year of £0.330m represents the outcome of stringent financial 
management through the year as the Council continues to meet the extreme 
challenges of national government policy.  

3.5    As was detailed within the Budget report presented to Council in February 2019, in 
addition to the need to respond to the decade long austerity programme, which will 
see the organisation having to deliver further significant savings in 2019/20, the 
Council continues to face unprecedented financial pressure particularly within 
Adults and Children’s Social Care.  This position is not unique to Sefton; however, 
the challenge is significant and will require very careful financial management 
throughout 2019/20 and beyond.  

3.6    The Council acknowledged these risks in its budget report and additional resources 
were built into 2019/20 budget in recognition of these additional demands. The first 
budget monitoring report of 2019/20, relating to the first quarter of the year, is 
presented separately on today’s agenda and provides an initial assessment of the 
Council’s financial position as it enters the final year of the current three-year 
budget package. 

3.7    In addition to the financial pressures being experienced by the Council, there is 
considerable uncertainty around the future funding of local government and the 
impact this will have on Sefton.  As detailed in the budget report, the Government 
has committed to the biggest review of local government finance in a generation 
with a Fair Funding Review, Adult Social Care Green Paper on future funding and 
the reform and full roll out of the business rates retention scheme.  The Council 
continues to contribute to consultations and lobby on each of these areas, to help 
develop what is hoped will be a genuine long-term plan to deliver financial 
sustainability to local government in general, and Sefton in particular.  However, 
due to the delay in the Brexit process, the implementation of any changes may be 
delayed beyond 2020/21 bringing more uncertainty in the Council’s funding position.

4 Schools’ Delegated Budgets Outturn 2018/2019
 

4.1     The level of schools’ balances as at the end of 2018/19 is £13.596m (£15.404m 
2017/18). This overall sum consists of direct school balances of £12.867m 
(£14.994m 2017/18); Schools Supply Funding Pool £0.020m (£0.066m 2017/18) 
and the Schools Rates Pooled Account £0.709m (£0.344m 2017/18). The total 
balances represent 12.99% of schools’ 2018/19 delegated budgets. Overall, 
schools’ direct balances reduced by £2.127m; Similarly, the Schools Supply Pool 
balances reduced by £0.046m; whilst the Rates Pool Account increased by 
£0.365m.

4.2   Analysis of the Schools Balances, shows that 37 schools saw an increase in their 
balances totalling £1.243m; whilst 55 schools experienced a fall in balances of 
£3.370m giving a net reduction in the year of £2.127m. Of the 55 schools with 

Page 62

Agenda Item 9



falling balances, there were 38 Primary schools and all 6 Local Authority 
Maintained Secondary schools with a fall in balances of £1.511m and £0.999m 
respectively.

4.3    There were 2 Maintained Secondary Schools and 1 Maintained Nursery school 
being in a significant deficit balance situation by year-end (£1.116m and £0.270m 
respectively). These 3 schools were all operating under a licensed deficit in 
2018/19, and the Maintained Nursery school is scheduled to close in July of this 
year. 

4.4    The level of schools’ balances also fell by £0.569m, following the conversion of 6 
Primary schools to Academies during the year, where any residual balances have 
to be paid over by the Local Authority to the new Academy Trusts.

4.5    There is growing concern over future funding of schools, and despite Government 
agreeing to fund the Teachers Pay award at September 2018, and employers 
pensions increase costs, similar support is not expected for the 2019 teachers pay 
settlement, leaving schools to pick up the increases in cost. This factor, coupled 
with falling rolls in some areas, may see an increasing number of schools moving 
towards, if not into a deficit position by 2020/21. This situation is being carefully 
monitored and managed on a regular basis. In 2019/20, there are already 3 
additional schools requesting to operate a licenced deficit and with a recovery plan, 
including 2 Secondary and 1 Primary school. Challenge meetings have been 
arranged with these schools to review their plans to reduce the deficits and get the 
school back into balance within a three-year period whilst maintaining standards.  
Officers will be discussing this with the Regional Schools Commissioner and the 
Archdiocese to agree the role they need to play in supporting the Council and the 
schools to meet this challenge. 

4.6    In respect of Maintained Special Schools (including the Pupil Referral Units); 4 
schools saw an increase in their balances (£0.294m), whilst 3 saw a fall in 
balances (£0.135m). Funding for these schools is very much dependent on High 
Needs DSG spending, and there are growing pressures across High Needs to 
reduce costs.

4.7    High Needs budgets were overspent by £2.3m in 2018/19, and efforts are 
underway in 2019/20, following a formal consultation on High Needs earlier in the 
year, to reduce costs or avoid expensive out of Borough day placements going 
forward.  The Local Authority is currently consulting all stakeholders within the High 
Needs / SEN sector over the significant overspend against the High Needs Block 
within the DSG. With continued uncertainty over future funding for High Needs, and 
the need to reduce spending, many headteachers and governing bodies within 
special schools are holding back on all but essential spending, in case there are 
proposed changes to special schools’ funding to help mitigate the current 
overspend on the High Needs Block. In order to support high needs, funding has 
been moved from the School’s Block to the High Needs Block, however, demand 
for supporting pupils with SEND is significantly more than the available budget.  
This reflects the national picture with around 40% of local authorities spending 
more on high needs than is allocated by the Government.  The DfE are currently 
calling for evidence on this issue and Sefton schools have been encouraged to 
respond.  Whilst every effort will be made to make efficiencies, the trend is for 
numbers to continue growing and the local authority has a legal duty to meet need 

Page 63

Agenda Item 9



in a system where parental preference often takes precedence. A detailed action 
plan is being developed that will determine the financial sustainability of the service 
and the implications for the Council.

4.8     Maintained Nursery schools’ net balances also went up slightly (two increased with 
two decreasing), but all nursery schools could potentially lose up to 50% of their 
current funding allocations from August 2020, when the transitional protection in 
the Early Years Formula, worth £0.587m to Sefton’s 4 Maintained Nursery Schools, 
could cease. However, 1 Maintained Nursery school is set to close in August 2019 
(Sand Dunes) due to falling numbers and unsustainable funding levels.

4.9     A sub-group of the Schools Forum will be examining the levels of all balances held, 
in September / October 2018, and where appropriate, schools will be asked to 
demonstrate robust plans for the committed use of any surplus balances within the 
current challenging environment.

4.10 The Council also holds some Centrally Retained DSG reserves, separate to its 
Maintained Schools’ balances. These are in respect of Schools’ Central Support 
services; Early Years (non-schools) provision and High Needs (non-schools) 
provision. The net opening balance of these reserves, as at 1 April 2018, was a 
surplus of £0.515m, however during 2018/19, there were some significant under 
and overspending areas, which have resulted in a net overspending of £0.745m. 
This has therefore taken the level of these reserves into a deficit position of 
£0.230m at 31 March 2019 for the first time.

Centrally Retained DSG Balances 1 April 2018

£m

Movement
2018/2019

£m

31 March 
2019

£m

Schools Block -0.224 -0.151 -0.375
Early Years Block -1.656 -1.382 -3.038
High Needs Block 1.365 2.278 3.643

-0.515 0.745 0.230

4.11 Under recent DfE regulations, operating from 2018/19, Local Authorities may now 
only carry forward up to 1% of their total DSG funding (including Academy schools) 
as a deficit balance. Once this threshold is exceeded however, in any one year, the 
Local Authority are obliged to provide the DfE, and Schools Forum, with a detailed 
plan of action, to bring the level of deficit under control and below the threshold 
towards a break-even position, as soon as possible. This plan may be agreed over 
a three-year period, or may be extended, by agreement with the DfE, and will be 
periodically reviewed. The DfE have vowed to support Local Authorities to better 
understand the reasons for overspending, and to help them move towards a 
balanced position.

4.12 In 2018/19, the Council has not reached the 1% threshold level (£2.027m), and so 
will not need to provide a report. However, with High Needs overspending in 
excess of £2m anticipated in 2019/20, this threshold may well be reached by the 
end of the year, and plans will need to be made to reduce spending in this area 
during 2019/20, if this requirement is to be avoided

Page 64

Agenda Item 9



5    Council Balances

5.1   The change in the level of Council and School Balances as at 31 March 2019 are 
set out in the tables below:

Non-School General Fund Balances
£m     £m

Actual Non-School General Fund Balances at 31 March 2018 -9.132

Less underspend in comparison to the 2018/2019 Base Estimate:
 - Assumed Use of Balances 2018/2019 1.923
 - Underspend in 2018/2019 -0.330
Actual Reduction in Balances in 2018/2019 1.593

Actual Non-School General Fund Balances at 31 March 2019 -7.539

Schools’ Balances £m

Schools’ balances as at 1 April 2018 -15.404
Overspend on Schools’ Delegated Budgets 1.808
Schools’ balances at 31 March 2019 -13.596

6 Earmarked Reserves

6.1 Unlike General Fund balances, Earmarked Reserves are held for a specific 
purpose. These purposes may be determined by the Council to coincide with its 
policy objectives, dictated by statute (e.g. Schools Earmarked Reserves) or relate 
to revenue grants and contributions that haven’t been fully applied by the end of the 
financial year.

6.2 Those Earmarked Reserves determined by the Council to coincide with its policy 
objectives are created, and occasionally increased, in accordance the Council’s 
Financial Procedure Rules.  Approval limits are as follows:

Amount Approval

Up to and including £250,000 Section 151 Officer

In excess of £250,000 up to and including 
£500,000

Section 151 Officer in consultation with 
the Chief Executive

In excess of £500,000 up to and including 
£1,000,000

Cabinet

Over £1,000,000 Council with 
recommendation from Cabinet

Page 65

Agenda Item 9



6.3 Once approved, expenditure incurred in accordance with the reserve’s purpose is 
funded by applying the reserve, without any need for further approval.  If the 
reserve if no longer required for the originally intended purpose it is released back 
into the General Fund.

6.4 An analysis of the Council’s Earmarked Reserves, and the movement during 
2018/19 is shown in the table below: 

Movements in 2018/2019 1 April Transfers Transfers 31 March
2018 in Out 2019
£m £m £m £m

(a) Environmental Warranty -11.000 0.000 0.000 -11.000
(b) Insurance Fund -0.089 0.000 0.089 0.000
(c) Transforming Sefton -7.110 -2.586 1.093 -8.603
(d) Redundancy Reserve -4.675 0.000 2.513 -2.162
(e) Capital Priorities Fund -0.076 0.000 0.000 -0.076
(f) Community Transition Fund -0.672 -0.500 0.283 -0.889
(g) Contamination Clearance -1.500 0.000 0.000 -1.500
(h) Rating Appeals / Reduction in 

NDR Income Reserve
-2.254 0.000 0.000 -2.254

(i) Recycling and Waste 
Development Fund

-0.409 0.000 0.409 0.000

(j) MRP Adjustment Reserve -3.179 0.000 2.780 -0.399
(k) Regeneration Schemes Reserve -1.000 -0.163 0.500 -0.663
(l) Revenue Grants and 

Contributions Unapplied
-6.581 -2.678 2.582 -6.677

(m) Schools’ Earmarked Reserves -0.916 -1.632 2.778 0.230
(n) Other Earmarked Reserves -6.534 -1,468 2.250 -5.752

Total -45,995 -9.027 15.277 -39.745

(o) Temporary Use of Earmarked 
Reserves to Fund Pension Deficit 
Payment

20.308 -10.154 0.000 10.154

-25.687 -19.181 15.277 -29.591

6.5 The main increases in Earmarked Reserves are as follows:

a) Transforming Sefton – Increased by £2.409m in line with the Council’s approved 
budget for 2018/19.  In addition, the reserve has been increased by a further 
£0.177m as external funding has been received for expenditure previously funded 
from the reserve.

b) Community Transition Fund – Cabinet on 6 December 2018 approved an 
increase in the reserve of £0.500m through the transfer of various uncommitted 
Earmarked Reserves.

c) PSR9 Phasing Reserve (included in Other) – An amount of £0.460m has been 
reserved from the early achievement of savings on PSR9 in 2018/19, as well as 
underspends on Corporate Resources.  This will be utilised in 2019/20 to offset 
the implications of phasing with elements of the PSR9 saving target.  The full 
saving will be achieved in 2020/21.

d) Investment Strategy (included in Other) – Due to the phasing of projects funded 
from the Investment Strategy budget, an underspend has occurred (£0.269m).  
This has been reserved to ensure the projects can still be funded in 2019/20 
without being a call on this year’s budget allocation.

Page 66

Agenda Item 9



e) HMO Licences (included in Other) – The Council has implemented a HMO 
Licensing Scheme which will be self-funding across a five-year period.  It has 
been agreed to reserve any surpluses arising in the initial years to ensure this 
takes place.  Accordingly, £0.170m has been reserved in 2018/19.

f) Crematoria Gas Flue System Replacement (included in Other) – Council has 
previously agreed that an element of the fees charged for cremations would be 
reserved to fund future replacements.  In 2018/19 £0.111m has been added to the 
reserve.

g) Formby Pool Sinking Fund (included in Other) – The Council is obliged to set 
aside resources to contribute towards future maintenance at the Pool.  In 2018/19 
£0.106m has been added to the reserve in accordance with the agreement.

6.6 In addition, there has been an increase of £10.154m to “repay” the temporary use 
of Earmarked Reserves to fund the upfront payment of the Pension Deficit in April 
2017.  This is a cash-flow adjustment to enable the Council to make a significant 
saving across the period of the three-year budget plan.

6.7 As mentioned in paragraph 6.3, Earmarked Reserves that are no longer required 
for their original purpose can be released back to the General Fund.  As part of the 
mid-year review during 2018/19, reserves totalling £1.180m were identified as no 
longer being required. Of this, £0.680m was released as part of the remedial plan to 
mitigate against the budget pressures being experienced in 2018/19 with £0.500m 
being transferred to the Community Transition Fund as approved by Cabinet on 6 
December 2018.

7 Conclusion

7.1 In March 2017, the Council set a three-year budget that would through its 
Framework for Change programme would meet the overall £64m shortfall 
estimated for the period.  2018/19 represented the second year of that budget and 
from the financial results reported in this paper it can be seen that this three-year 
budget remains on target.

7.2 Whilst the position reported is favourable, in addition to meeting the funding 
shortfall that has arisen primarily due to central Government’s austerity 
programme, the Council is also facing significant financial pressure from its main 
demand led budgets, Adults and Children’s Social Care.  The experience in Sefton 
is currently similar to most local authorities across the country and as a result will 
require careful financial management in the forthcoming year in order that these 
pressures are aligned with the delivery of the overall savings target that the Council 
has to meet.  This approach and pressure was identified within the Budget report of 
March 2019 and significant additional resources were included in the budget for 
2019/20.

7.3 The Council’s accounts are currently the subject to review by the external auditor, 
Ernst & Young, and following final completion of the audit, the Accounts will be 
presented to the Audit & Governance Committee in July 2019 for consideration, 
together with the ISA 260 report that will reflect their findings and conclusions.

Page 67

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 25 July 2019

Subject: Revenue & Capital Budget Update - Capital Outturn 2018/19

Report of: Head of Corporate 
Resources

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:
To inform Cabinet of the capital outturn position in relation to the 2018/19 financial year.  

Recommendation(s):

1. Note the capital outturn of £22.961m for the financial year 2019/20
2. To note the successful delivery of a number of schemes as set out in section 3 

that have supported the delivery of the core purpose
3. To note that through investment in both ICT and building infrastructure the capital 

programme has enabled the delivery of significant savings that will contribute to 
the delivery of the medium term financial plan; and

4. To note that previously approved grant funded schemes totalling £16.642m will 
have the funding carried forward into 2019/20

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The production of a capital outturn report is a key feature of effective financial 
management and will allow Members to make informed decisions that will support 
service delivery and medium term financial sustainability. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

There are no other options available.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

All revenue implications are detailed within the report

(B) Capital Costs
All capital implications are detailed within the report

Page 69

Agenda Item 10



Implications of the Proposals:

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out as follows:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

None
Legal Implications:

None
Equality Implications:

None

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: 
The capital programme will enable the Council to seek to protect the most vulnerable 
within available resources.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
The capital programme delivers schemes working with partners and communities to 
reduce reliance on public services.

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
The capital programme facilitates the capital infrastructure that delivers to Council’s 
core services such as education, adults and children’s social care transport 
infrastructure, regeneration activities, environmental, cultural and leisure services. 

Place – leadership and influencer: 
The capital programme demonstrates leadership by engagement, consultation, listening 
and considering feedback in the implementation of capital schemes.

Drivers of change and reform: 
The capital programme demonstrates the Council leading in driving change to 
continuously improve the Borough.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:  
The capital programme delivers capital projects that ensure the Borough of Sefton 
maintains and expands the infrastructure that delivers economic growth. It 
demonstrates the Council’s approach to investing in infrastructure to achieve economic 
prosperity.

Greater income for social investment: 
The capital programme facilitates schemes of a commercial nature that may generate 
profit that can be reinvested into delivering social purposes.

Cleaner Greener: 

Page 70

Agenda Item 10



The capital programme delivers the capital assets that maintain the green spaces and 
environment of the Borough.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources is the author of the report (FD 5709/19)

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer has been consulted and has no comments on 
the report (LD4833/19).

(B) External Consultations 

N/A

Implementation Date for the Decision
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officers: Stephan Van Arendsen
Tel: 0151 934 4082
Email:  Stephan.VanArendsen@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:
There are no appendices to this report

Background Papers:
There are no background papers for inspection

Page 71

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Stephan.VanArendsen@sefton.gov.uk


1. Introduction 
 

1.1 This report details the capital outturn position for the 2018/19 Capital Programme.

2. Capital Outturn

2.1 The approved capital budget for 2018/19 was £35.925m against which capital 
expenditure of £19.463m has been incurred at the year end.  This has resulted in 
an reprofiling of £16.462m into 2019/20.  A service by service breakdown is shown 
in the following table and from this it can be seen that the major variations are 
within Highways and Public Protection, Children’s Services and Adults Social Care 
in respect of Disabled Facilities Grant, predominantly for reasons that are beyond 
the Councils control.

Service

Full 
Year 

Budget
2018/19

Actual
Outturn

Exp
2018/19

Reprofiling 
to 2019/20

£m £m £m
Corporate Resources 5.353 5.333 0.020
Highways and Public Protection 13.246 6.789 6.457
Locality Services Provision 2.530 1.393 1.137
Economic Growth and Housing 1.727 1.302 0.425
Health & Wellbeing 0.065 0.045 0.020
Children’s Services 5.710 2.543 3.167
Communities 1.100 0.205 0.895
Older People IT Integration 0.123 0.99 0.024
Adult Social Care (Disabled 
Facilities Grant) 6.071 1.754 4.317

Total Capital Programme 35.925 19.463 16.462

2.2 The capital outturn of £19.463m was slightly less than the forecast reported to 
Cabinet in February 2019. This reduction was mainly due to re-phasing delivery of 
the M58 Junction 1 improvements into the new financial year. 

2.3 In addition to the core programme, capital expenditure totalling £3.498m was 
incurred by the Council in support of the Framework for Change programme (for 
example on Locality Hubs and ICT Transformation) and capitalisation of Highways 
expenditure.  Total capital expenditure in 2018/19, including the above projects was 
therefore £22.961m.

2.4 The financing of the 2018/19 capital expenditure is outlined in the following table:

Expenditure £m
Government Grant 12.398
Borrowing 5.824
Section 106 0.290
Contributions 0.453
Revenue Contribution 0.828
Capital Receipt 3.168
TOTAL 22.961

Page 72

Agenda Item 10



3 Programme Delivery 2018/19 

3.1 As would be expected with a capital programme of this size, the investment that 
has been incurred during the year has led to both the development and 
improvement of the council’s infrastructure, supporting the delivery of key outcomes 
as set out in the Framework for Change programme and enabled the delivery of 
significant savings.  The key schemes that have been delivered in year are detailed 
below as follows:- 

3.2 Corporate Resources

 £3.1m was incurred on the Council’s ICT transformation project.  This project 
has fundamentally transformed both a significant part of the Council’s ICT 
infrastructure and also the end user experience.  Through this project the 
number of applications / servers has reduced and Windows 10, Office 365 and 
SharePoint have been implemented across the Council.  In addition to this, the 
majority of end user devices have been “refreshed” to support more agile 
working. This project facilitated the delivery of savings within the Framework for 
Change programme and major cost reduction in the Council’s new 5 year ICT 
contract.

 £1.661m was incurred on upgrading some of the Council’s corporate buildings 
to accommodate the introduction of locality and agile working and to take 
advantage of the end of leases held by the Council.  This involved the upgrade 
of facilities at Magdalen House and the establishment of community hubs at 
Meadows Leisure Centre, Aintree Youth Centre, Netherton Activity Centre and 
Southport Town Hall. This work facilitated the £1m per year saving from the 
vacating of Merton House and the delivery of the savings from the new 
localities model.

3.3 Highways and Public Protection

 £2.0m was incurred on carriageway maintenance. This includes 55,662m2 of 
carriageway resurfacing and 41,282m2 of carriageway that was treated with 
micro surfacing. 

 £1.416m was incurred on M58 junction 1 improvements and A565 North Key 
Corridor improvements.

 £0.426m was incurred on street lighting.  397 columns of varying types have 
been installed and 567 LED lanterns have been replaced or renewed.

 Flood Defence (CERMS) incurred £0.528m through monitoring and analysing 
coastal change along the north-west coast. Crosby Coastal Defences incurred 
£0.217m on preparatory work for the development of a business case including 
selecting options, undertaking environmental surveys and preparation of 
reports. 

Page 73

Agenda Item 10



3.4 Locality Services Provision

 £1.388m was spent on 3 refuse vehicles, 11 vans, 2 skip loader lorries, plus 
ride on mowers, top dressers and tractors.

3.5 Children’s Services 

 Norwood Primary School: completion of an extra form entry providing 210 
places over a 5-year period to 2023. Works completed include 2 form education 
facilities (including 6 new classrooms), new hall, kitchen extension, support 
facilities and groundwork improvements. 

 St Luke’s Primary School: completion of a programme of education              
improvements including new classroom, hall extension and support facilities.

 Linaker Primary School: completion of an improvement and remodelling 
scheme including reorganisation of the Children’s Centre, conversion of three 
classrooms, nursery space, dining hall and associated support facilities. 

3.6 Economic Growth and Housing

 Expenditure of £1.123m was incurred on the Southport Pier refurbishment 
(£1.4m was spent in 2017/18).  Phase 3 of 4 is now complete and incorporates 
steelwork repairs, construction of two kiosks for food and beverage 
concessions, refurbishment of the pavilion incorporating new toilets, bar, 
kitchen and redesigned food outlet, repair and replacement of a third of the pier 
timber deck, replacement of mechanical, electrical, drainage services and new 
lighting.

3.7 Adult Social Care (Disabled Facilities Grant)

 270 disabled facilities grant adaptions in client homes were completed and 289 
new grant applications were approved.

4 Key Explanations of Full Year Outturn Variance 2018/19 

4.1 As detailed earlier in the report a number of grant funded schemes will be rephased 
into 2019/20. A summary of the schemes that will continue into the next financial 
year is provided below and will maximise the funding that is available to the Council 
and the delivery of key outcomes. 

Highways and Public Protection

4.2 The variance within Highways and Public Protection (£6.457m) was due to: 

 The M58 J1 improvements (£3.915m); and 
 A565 Route Management (£0.645m).

4.3 The reason for the re-phasing is due to a delay in commencing works following the 
time taken to secure the necessary land, with discussions with landowners being 

Page 74

Agenda Item 10



protracted. The CPO for the land was made in Highways England’s name rather 
than the Council’s, hence the delay. 

4.4 In addition re-phasing of £0.53m of Coastal Erosion Risk Monitoring (CERMS) 
expenditure into 2019/20 occurred following a review of the scheme which is 
heavily weather dependent.

Locality Services Provision

4.5 The variation on Locality Services Provision (£1.137m) was a result of deferring the 
Green Sefton vehicle replacement programme by a year as the existing stock are in 
good working order.  

Adult Social Care (Disabled Facilities Grant)

4.6 A full review of the DFG programme has been undertaken and will result in 
investment of £4.7m in 2019/20 with a further £6.3m in 2020/21. This covers both 
the core DFG programme plus the wider social care capital programme.

 
Children’s Services

4.7 The Children’s Services variation (£3.167m) is due to a number of schemes 
experiencing reprofiling that will lead to the grant funding being carried forward into 
2019/20.  Details of these delays, which have resulted in a “greater than” £50k 
carry forward, are provided in the table below.   

SCHEME £ Reason for Variation
Norwood Primary 
School Remodelling

633,548 The scheme is now completed with an 
underspend. 

Kitchen Canopy 
Replacement 

58,530 This scheme is no longer required; funding will be 
transferred to Redgate Primary School kitchen 
refurbishment (see paragraphs 3.7 and 3.8).

Emergency 
Schemes

87,496 The balance is to be transferred to the Schools 
Maintenance Programme in 2019/20.

Linaker Primary 
School Asbestos 
Removal

60,720 This scheme was to be carried out as part of a 
larger scheme at Linaker to increase capacity. The 
increase in capacity is no longer required so this 
scheme will be programmed to commence late in 
2019/20 or early 2020/21.

St Luke’s CE 
Resource Hall 
Extension

116,049 Phase 1 of the scheme is now complete and phase 
2 will be completed in 2019/20.

Forefield Infants 
new toilet block

115,034 Work packages were changed during the scheme 
and will be completed in 2019/20.

Linaker Primary 
School additional 1 
form class entry

141,978 £0.558m was spent in 2018/19 and the scheme will 
be completed in 2019/20.

Healthy Pupils Fund 164,000 The funding has been passed to Public Health. The 
panel to assess bids was set up in February 2019 
so that schemes can be assessed and funding 
spent in 2019/20.

Page 75

Agenda Item 10



Hudson Primary 
School Heating 
Ducts

142,478 The scheme has been delayed due to the 
discovery of asbestos. The original scheme was 
budgeted at £0.15m but the estimate was later 
revised to £0.3m. Tenders received suggest the 
final cost could be £0.910m. Other funding sources 
are being investigated (see paragraph 4.7).

Netherton Moss 
Primary School 
Kitchen 
Refurbishment

50,000 The scheme started in 2017/18 in anticipation of 
Litherland Moss becoming and an academy. A 
rewire of Netherton Moss is likely to be required 
(see paragraph 4.7) and the kitchen refurbishment 
will be included in the new scheme.

Planned 
maintenance

571,337 This balance will be re-programmed to fund the 
Hudson Primary School Heating Duct scheme, the 
rewire of Netherton Moss, and Redgate Primary 
School Kitchen Refurbishment (see paragraph 
4.7).  The remaining funding will be targeted at 
priority maintenance projects in 2019/20 and 
2020/21.

Linacre Primary 
School classroom 
refurbishment

54,561 Scheme complete awaiting final accounts from 
contractor.

Linaker Primary 
School increased 
capacity

53,438 Size of scheme was reduced and balance will be 
transferred to Planned Maintenance.

Fees for 
remodelling 3 
schools

85,000 Balance relates to schemes at Great Crosby, 
Litherland Moss, and Norwood Primary. 

TOTAL 2,334,169

4.8 Of the total above, £0.918m relates to completed schemes and therefore the grant 
funding can be transferred to other schemes.  In addition, a review of schemes 
“less than” £50k which are not included within the table above, has resulted in an 
additional £0.123m being available for re-allocation.  

4.9 As noted above, there are three major schemes that require additional funding, to 
which these balances will be transferred, as follows:

 Hudson Primary School Heating Ducts – indicative cost £0.910m
 Netherton Moss Rewire – agreed cost £0.526m 
 Redgate Primary School Rewire / Kitchen – agreed cost £0.363m.

These virements from grant funding will be the subject of the appropriate cabinet 
member decision as per Financial Procedure Rules.

4.10 The carry forward requests contained in this section represent committed funds 
against schemes that have previously been approved by Members. 

Page 76

Agenda Item 10



5 Conclusion

5.1 The capital programme continues to be a key element of the Council’s approach to 
meeting its core purpose.  During the year expenditure has directly contributed to 
the delivery of key service priorities and services to residents and communities.  
The programme has also enabled the delivery of significant savings that have been 
included within the Council’s three-year Medium Term Financial Plan through the 
Framework for Change programme.  This investment will continue into 2019/20.

Page 77

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet 
Council

Date of Meeting: 25 July 2019
19 September 2019

Subject: Revenue and Capital Budget Update 2019/20

Report of: Head of Corporate 
Resources

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To inform Cabinet of: -
1. The current forecast revenue outturn position for the Council for 2019/20;
2. The current forecast on Council Tax and Business Rates collection for 2019/20; 

and,
3. The monitoring position of the Council’s capital programme to the end of June 

2019, the forecast expenditure to year end, variations against the approved 
budgets and an explanation of those variations for consideration by Members. 
Updates to spending profiles and proposed amendments to capital budgets 
necessary to ensure the efficient delivery of capital projects are also presented for 
approval.

The inform Council of further additions to the 2019/20 Capital Programme.

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is recommended to: -

Revenue Budget
(1) Note the current forecast revenue outturn position for 2019/20 and the current 

position relating to delivery of savings included in the 2019/20 revenue budget;
(2) Note that potential mitigating actions may be required should there still be a 

forecast deficit following the mid-year review; 

Capital Programme
(3) Note updates to spending profiles across financial years (paragraph 5.1.1).
(4) Note the latest capital expenditure position as at 30th June 2019 to date of £1.7m 

(paragraph 5.2.2); the latest full year forecast is £26.6m (paragraph 5.3.1).
(5) Note explanations of variances to project budgets (paragraph 5.3.2).
(6) Approve the additional and revised Transport allocations shown in paragraphs 

Page 79

Agenda Item 11



5.4.1 to 5.4.4.
(7) Approve the additional Better Care Fund (BCF) grant allocation (section 5.6)
(8) Note the revised Schools capital budgets as described (section 5.7).
(9) Approve the additional SEND allocations (section 5.8).
(10) Note the additional Homes England grant (section 5.9).
(11) Note the Burials and Cremation capital programme plans (paragraph 5.10).
(12) Note that capital resources will be managed by the Head of Corporate Resources 

to ensure the capital programme remains fully funded and that capital funding 
arrangements secure the maximum financial benefit to the Council.

Council is recommended to: -

(1) Approve the additional and revised Transport allocations shown in paragraphs 
5.4.1 to 5.4.4.

(2) Approve the additional Better Care Fund (BCF) grant allocation (section 5.6)
(3) Approve the additional SEND allocations (section 5.8).

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To ensure Cabinet are informed of the forecast outturn position for the 2019/2020 
revenue budget as at the end of June 2019, including delivery of agreed savings, and to 
provide an updated forecast of the outturn position with regard to the collection of 
Council Tax and Business Rates.  

To keep members informed of the progress of the capital programme against the profiled 
budget for 2019/20 and agreed allocations for future years. 

To progress any changes that are required in order to maintain a relevant and accurate 
budget profile necessary for effective monitoring of the capital programme.

To approve any updates to funding resources so that they can be applied to capital 
schemes in the delivery of the Council’s overall capital strategy.

In March 2017 Council approved a three-year budget plan to March 2020. The final year 
of this plan was revised in February 2019 as part of the process of setting the 2019/20 
budget.  The Council is in the final year of the budget plan and remains confident its 
strategic approach to budget planning alongside good financial management and 
extensive community engagement means that the plan continues to develop on solid 
foundations; it remains flexible and will secure the future sustainability to 2020 and 
beyond.  However, in year demand for social care services is currently resulting in the 
costs for these services significantly exceeding the budget.  If further budget pressures 
are identified between now and the end of the year additional remedial action will be 
required to bring the overall budget into balance.

Page 80

Agenda Item 11



Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)
N/A

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
The report indicates that for 2019/20 there is currently a forecast deficit of £3.238m. 
Officers will look to identify mitigating actions and continue to review all budget forecasts, 
including current vacancies and non-essential expenditure, with a view to meeting this 
shortfall. 

(B) Capital Costs
The Council’s capital budget in 2019/20 is £25.943m. As at the end of June 2019, 
expenditure of £1.700m has been incurred and a full year outturn of £26.626m is 
currently forecast.

Implications of the Proposals:
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out as follows:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
There is currently a budget shortfall of £3.238m forecast for 2019/20. Officers will look 
to identify mitigating actions and continue to review all budget forecasts, including 
current vacancies and non-essential expenditure, with a view to meeting this shortfall. 
However, it should be noted that significant pressure and risk remains in four key 
business areas, namely Adults and Children’s Social Care, Education Excellence and 
Locality Services.  These budgets may experience further demand pressure between 
now and the end of the year and further mitigations and remedial actions will be 
required in such an eventuality.

Legal Implications:
None

Equality Implications:

None

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:
Effective Financial Management and the development and delivery of sustainable annual 
budgets support each theme of the Councils Core Purpose.

Protect the most vulnerable:
See comment above

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
See comment above

Commission, broker and provide core services:
See comment above

Page 81

Agenda Item 11



Place – leadership and influencer:
See comment above

Drivers of change and reform:
See comment above

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
See comment above

Greater income for social investment: 
See comment above

Cleaner Greener:
See comment above

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources is the author of the report (FD 5712/19)

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer has been consulted and has no comments on 
the report (LD 4836/19).

(B) External Consultations 
N/A

Implementation Date for the Decision
Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Paul Reilly
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4106
Email Address: paul.reilly@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:
APPENDIX A – Capital Programme 2019/20 to 2021/22

Background Papers:
There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 82

Agenda Item 11



1.     Introduction
 
1.1 In March 2017, Council approved a three-year budget plan to March 2020. The 

final year of this plan was revised in February 2019 as part of the process of the 
Council setting the 2019/20 budget.  This report updates the forecast revenue 
outturn position for 2019/20, including the delivery of savings included in the 
2019/20 budget.

1.2 The report also outlines the current position regarding key income streams for the 
Authority, namely Council Tax and Business Rates. Variations against expected 
receipts in these two areas will also affect the Council’s financial position in future 
years. 

1.3 The capital section of the report informs members of the latest estimate of capital 
expenditure for 2019/20 and updates forecast expenditure for 2020/21, 2021/22 
and future years. Proposed increases to the capital budget are presented in section 
5.1. Sections 5.2 and 5.3 review progress of the capital programme. Finally, section 
5.12 confirms that there are adequate levels of resources available to finance the 
capital programme.

2. Summary of the Forecast Outturn Position as at the end of June 2019
 

1.0 Members will be provided with updates of the Council’s forecast financial position 
each month during this financial year. Significant pressures have been identified in 
several service areas, particularly Children’s Social Care, Locality Services and 
Home to School Transport. The latest forecast of service expenditure indicates an 
overspend of £3.238m.  The table below highlights the variations:

Budget Forecast 
Outturn

Variance

£m £m £m
Services
Strategic Management 3.245 3.245 0.000

Strategic Support Unit 2.866 2.866 0.000

Adult Social Care 96.822 96.822 0.000
Children's Social Care 27.956 34.137 6.181
Communities 19.535 19.535 0.000
Corporate Resources 4.656 4.524 -0.132
Economic Growth & Housing 6.099 6.232 0.133
Education Excellence 8.068 10.292 2.224
Health & Wellbeing 18.060 18.015 -0.045
Highways & Public Protection 11.192 11.426 0.234
Locality Services 13.134 14.198 1.064

Total Service Net 
Expenditure

211.633 221.292 9.659

Page 83

Agenda Item 11



1.1 The key forecast variations in the outturn position are as follows: -

 Children’s Social Care (£6.181m overspend) – The Placement and Packages 
budget overspent by £5.612m in 2019/20.  The forecast overspend in 2019/20 is 
£5.912m due to the increase in Looked After Children since the end of 2018/19, 
from 525 to 539, and the full year impact of new cases from 2018/19.  In addition, 
the legal costs budget is forecast to overspend by £0.299m due to the number of 
Looked After Children cases.  

The cost of Placements and Packages is the largest risk to the Council’s budget 
position and it is expected that the position will change.  The Council is looking at 
developing a range of options to address the inherent demand and costs of Looked 
After Children whilst supporting our most vulnerable residents.

 Corporate Resources (£0.132m underspend) - Increase in the cost of electoral 
services following the fall out of a national grant (£0.277m) offset by vacancy 
savings across the service.

 Economic Growth and Housing (£0.133m overspend) – There are a number of 
variations across the service including an overspend at Southport Market due to 
lower than budgeted for occupancy rates. 

 Education Excellence (£2.224m overspend) - Home to School transport external 
provision has a projected overspend of £2.116m.  This budget overspent by 
£1.817m in 2018/19 but is forecast to overspend by a further £0.299m due to the 
full year effect of the increased costs of new external transport contracts issued in 
September 2018.

 Highways and Public Protection (£0.234m overspend) – There is a shortfall on 
car parking income (£0.124m) due to poorer weather in the first quarter compared 
to 2018/19.  In addition, the approved staffing saving will not be implemented in 
time to achieve the full year saving (£0.087m shortfall).  The approved saving from 
negotiating extensions to highways maintenance contracts has not realised the 
amount anticipated (£0.399m shortfall).  This has been mitigated by re-aligning 
highways maintenance budgets for 2019/20.

Provision relating to 2018/19 
Service Pressures

7.800 0.000 -7.800

Budget Pressure Fund 1.000 1.000 0.000
Public Sector Reform Savings 
not allocated to services 

(0.950) 0.000 0.950
(see para 

2.3)
Council Wide Budgets 6.479 6.908 0.429
Levies 34.156 34.156 0.000
General Government Grants (40.979) (40.979) 0.000

Total Net Expenditure 219.139 222.377

Forecast Year-End Deficit 3.238

Page 84

Agenda Item 11



 Locality Services (£1.064m overspend) – The service pressures experienced in 
2018/19 have continued into 2019/20. 

- Burials & Cremations (£0.322m overspend) - competition from a Crematorium in 
a neighbouring authority continues with a significant impact on income levels;

- Cleansing (£0.276m overspend) – The impact of collections at additional 
properties and street cleaning work (including weed removal) has continued;

- Security Service (£0.302m overspend) – The forecast deficit is a reflection of an 
under recovery of income to support the cost base.  The forecast deficit has 
improved since 2018/19 (from £0.486m overspend) due to additional internal 
works being undertaken by the service.

- Catering / Green Sefton / Vehicle Maintenance (£0.157m overspend) – These 
services all had savings approved for increases in commercial activity.  It is 
currently forecast that anticipated additional income will not be fully achieved in 
2019/20.

 Public Sector Reform Savings not allocated to services (£0.950m overspend) 
– see paragraph 2.3 below.

 Council Wide Budgets (£0.429m) – the increase in pay budgets due to pay 
awards and pension increases, after allowing for fees and charges increases for 
traded services, is £0.394m greater than the provision built into the 2019/20 
budget.

Savings Delivery

1.2 The 2019/20 Budget included £9.803m of savings from Public Sector Reform 
(PSR) projects. Current forecasts are that £8.853m of savings will be deliverable in 
the year (90%).  An analysis of the overall savings for 2019/20 are shown in the 
summary below:

Total 
Saving 
2019/20

Forecast -
Achieved
In 2019/20

Forecast 
– Not 

Achieved 
2019/20

£m £m £m

PSR1 - Acute Wrap Around 0.230 0.000 0.230
PSR2 – Locality Teams 4.408 4.408 0.000
PSR4 - All Age Pathway 0.089 0.089 0.000
PSR6 - Commercialisation 0.405 0.405 0.000
PSR8 – Asset Maximisation 0.512 0.512 0.000
PSR9 – ICT & Digital Inclusion 3.439 3.439 0.000
PSR10 - Commissioning 0.720 0.000 0.720
Total PSR Projects 9.803 8.853 0.950

1.3 The shortfall on the achievement of savings shown in the table is included in the 
forecast outturn position shown in paragraph 2.1.

Page 85

Agenda Item 11



1.4 In addition, service budget options of £2.269m were approved for 2019/20. These 
have been built into service budgets and any shortfall in achievement of these 
savings is included in the forecast outturn position for each service.

Allocation of the Provision relating to 2018/19 Service Pressures (£7.800m)

1.5 Budget Council in February 2019 approved the inclusion of £7.800m into the 
2019/20 revenue budget in recognition of the budget pressures being experienced 
across a number of services.  Council gave delegated authority to the Chief 
Executive and the Head of Corporate Resources, in conjunction with the Leader of 
the Council, to allocate this resource.

1.6 In light of the forecast outturn position shown in the table in paragraph 2.1, it is 
proposed to allocate the additional resources as follows:

Service Budget Pressure Allocation
£m

Children’s Social Care Placements & Packages 5.400
Education Excellence Home to School Transport 1.800
Locality Services Burials & Cremations 0.320
Locality Services Cleansing 0.280

7.800

Measures to close the residual gap in 2019/20

1.7 The forecast budget deficit as at June 2019 is £3.238m.  This reflects the risks that 
were inherent in the Council’s financial position, particularly around demand for 
Children’s Social Care and other demand led services.  Major Services Reviews 
have commenced for Adult Social Care, Children’s Social Care, Education 
Excellence and Locality Services with a view to reduce this budget pressure where 
possible.

1.8 This is the Council’s first outturn forecast of 2019/20 and as such is based on a 
less comprehensive amount of information. Work will continue to refine the forecast 
as well as to undertake a mid-year review across all service areas.  Services that 
are forecasting a deficit will be required to produce an action plan to include 
mitigating actions to eliminate the deficit within the service.  

1.9 The next Budget Monitoring Report (to be presented to Cabinet on 5 September 
2019) will provide an updated position following this work.  Should a forecast deficit 
remain then mitigating actions will be presented, including not filling vacant posts, a 
freeze on all but essential expenditure and any other appropriate measure to 
ensure a balanced forecast outturn position can be achieved.

1.10 It should be noted that the budget for 2019/20 includes a Budget Pressures Fund of 
£1.000m.  Council gave delegated authority to the Chief Executive and the Head of 
Corporate Resources, in conjunction with the Leader of the Council, to allocate this 
Fund.  At present this resource has not been allocated, but this will be considered 
further once the Council’s overall position becomes clearer. 

Page 86

Agenda Item 11



2 Council Tax Income – Update 
 
3.1 Council Tax income is shared between the billing authority (Sefton Council) and the 

three major precepting authorities (the Fire and Rescue Authority, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner and the Combined Authority – Mayoral Precept) pro-rata to 
their demand on the Collection Fund. The Council’s Budget included a Council Tax 
Requirement of £133.099m for 2019/20 (including Parish Precepts), which 
represents 84.1% of the net Council Tax income of £158.306m. 

3.2 The forecast outturn for the Council at the end of June 2019 is a deficit of -
£0.229m.  This variation is primarily due to: -

 The surplus on the fund at the end of 2018/19 being lower than estimated by 
0.151m;

 
 Gross Council Tax Charges in 2019/20 being higher than estimated at -£0.340m; 

 Exemptions and Discounts (including a forecasting adjustment) being higher 
than estimated at +£0.418m.

3.3 Due to Collection Fund regulations, the Council Tax surplus will not be transferred 
to the General Fund in 2019/20 but will be carried forward to be distributed in future 
years.

3.4 A forecast surplus of £1.160m was declared on the 15th January 2019 of which 
Sefton’s share is £0.996m (85.8%).  This is the amount that will be distributed from 
the Collection Fund in 2019/20.  Any additional surplus or deficit will be distributed 
in 2020/21.

4 Business Rates Income – Update 
 
4.1 Since 1 April 2017, Business Rates income has been shared between the Council 

(99%) and the Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). The Council’s Budget included 
retained Business Rates income of £64.739m for 2019/20, which represents 99% 
of the net Business Rates income of £65.393m. Business Rates income has 
historically been very volatile making it difficult to forecast accurately. 

4.2 The forecast outturn for the Council at the end of June 2019 is a surplus of -
£0.962m on Business Rates income. This is due to:

 The surplus on the fund at the end of 2018/19 being higher than estimated -
£0.092m; 

 Increase in the gross charge on rateable properties (-£0.437m)
 Other reliefs (including a forecasting adjustment) being lower than estimated in 

2019/20 at -£0.433m.

4.3 Due to Collection Fund regulations, the Business Rates surplus will not be 
transferred to the General Fund in 2019/20 but will be carried forward to be 
distributed in future years.  However, £0.462m of the surplus forecast in paragraph 

Page 87

Agenda Item 11



4.2 will be required to offset the shortfall in Section 31 grants due to certain reliefs 
being lower than estimated in 2019/20.

4.4 A forecast surplus of £1.768m was declared in January 2019.  Sefton’s share of 
this is -£1.750m which is made up of an amount brought forward from 2017/18 (-
£2.169m) and the impact of variations in 2018/19 (+£0.419m).  This is the amount 
that will be distributed from the Collection Fund in 2019/20 and any additional 
surplus or deficit will be distributed in 2020/21.

5 Capital Programme 2019/20 – 2021/22 & Future Years

5.1 Capital Budget

5.1.1 The revised Capital Budget and profile of expenditure for the three years 2019/20 
to 2021/22 is:

5.1.2 The three-year Capital Budget has been revised since the final outturn for 2018/19 
to take account of updates, adjustments and clarification regarding the expected 
timing of project delivery as a result of a thorough capital programme review.

5.1.3 Other amendments to the capital budget have been made due to the confirmation 
of additional grant allocations to Highways and Public Protection (paragraphs 
5.4.1 to 5.4.4), and Adult Social Care (paragraph 5.6.1).

5.2 Budget Monitoring Position to June 2019

5.2.1 The current position of expenditure against the budget profile to the end of June 
2019 is shown in the table below. It should be noted that budgets are profiled over 
the financial year which skews expenditure to the final three quarters of the 
financial year. 

5.2.2 As would be expected Education Excellence carries out most of its capital works 
during key school holiday periods such as the summer recess, whilst Highways 
and Public Protection completes most of its programmed works during quarters 2 
and 3. The Adult Social Care expenditure excluding core Disabled Facilities Grant 
(DFG) expenditure is also mainly profiled to quarters 3 and 4 (see section 5.6).

Service Area
Budget to 

Jun-19

Actual 
Expenditure 

to Jun-19
Variance 
to Jun-19

£000 £000 £000

Adult Social Care 782 748 -34
Communities 0 1 1
Corporate Resources 80 79 -1
Economic Growth & Housing 12 12 0
Education Excellence 229 302 73

2019/20 £25.943m
2020/21 £10.862m
2021/22 £0.730m

Page 88

Agenda Item 11



Health & Wellbeing 63 57 -6
Highways & Public Protection 486 316 -169
Locality Services 146 184 38

Total Programme 1,798 1,700 -98

5.2.3 Analysis of significant spend variations over (+) / under (-) budget profile:

Education Excellence
Scheme Variation  Reason Action Plan

Lydiate Primary General 
Refurbishment

£17,622

Linacre Primary Classroom 
Refurbishment

£15,363

Hatton Hill Primary New Access 
Corridor

£18,198

Initial work on these 
school’s schemes 
has been completed 
ahead of schedule.

The remaining works will 
be complete as planned 
over the summer 
holidays with no 
additional funding 
required.

Highways & Public Protection
Scheme Variation Reason Action Plan

A59 Maghull Route 
Management (Dover Road)

£56,528 Statutory 
undertaker’s 
payments have been 
made upfront for the 
project to progress.

No further action 
required as remaining 
scheme spend is 
forecast to be within 
budget.

Resurfacing Programme £152,664 Completion of work 
relating to previous 
year’s programme.

No further action 
required as 2019/20 
scheme is forecast to be 
completed within budget.

Maintenance -£211,639 Outstanding 
balances from 
previous year.

Contractors will be 
chased up to clear 
outstanding balances.

M58 Junction 1 Improvements -£135,497 Processing delays in 
payment of June 
invoices.

Processing of payments 
will be brought up to 
date in July.

Locality Services
Scheme Variation Reason Action Plan

CERMS £61,646 Outstanding 
payments from 
previous year paid in 
quarter 1.

No further action 
required as remaining 
scheme budget is on 
target.

Tree Planting -£23,916 Delay in receiving 
invoices from 
contractor.

Contractor will be 
chased up and payment 
to be processed in July.

5.2.4 The progress of action plans will be reported on in next month’s report.
Page 89

Agenda Item 11



5.3 Capital Programme Forecast Outturn 2019/20

5.3.1 The current forecast of expenditure against the budget profile to the end of 
2019/20 and the profile of budgets for future years is shown in the table below:

Service Area

Full Year 
Budget 
2019/20

Forecast 
Out-turn

Variance 
to Budget

Full Year 
Budget 
2020/21

Full Year 
Budget 
2021/22

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Adult Social Care 4,762 4,761 -2 0 0
Communities 92 92 0 314 0
Corporate Resources 1,291 1,291 0 100 0
Economic Growth & Housing 307 307 0 157 0
Education Excellence 3,431 3,433 2 8,647 191
Health & Wellbeing 88 82 -6 0 0
Highways & Public Protection 13,244 13,932 689 178 0
Locality Services 2,729 2,729 0 1,465 539
Total Programme 25,943 26,626 683 10,862 730

A full list of the capital programme by capital scheme is at Appendix A.

5.3.2 Analysis of significant spend variations over budget profile in 2019/20:

Highways & Public Protection
Scheme Variation Reason Action Plan

M58 Junction 1 
Improvements

£688,540 Delays to the project due to 
longer than anticipated time to 
secure the land. Contractual 
payments had to be made to the 
contractor in the interim. 
Additional redesign costs have 
also been incurred. The total 
forecast overspend is £780k 
over 2019/20 and 2020/21.

Additional funding will be 
requested from the CA project 
management office. If this is 
unsuccessful, the transport 
programme will be reviewed to 
identify resources that can be 
redirected to the M58 scheme 
(see section 6, below).

5.4 Highways & Public Protection - Transport Allocations

5.4.1 There are three new grant allocations secured via the Combined Authority (CA) 
that are presented for approval to be included in the capital programme for 
2019/20 and future years. The allocations are as follows:

5.4.2 Major Scheme Development Fund
An indicative allocation of £0.275m has been allocated by the CA and will be 
included in the Integrated Transport Programme for 2019/20. This allocation is 
subject to final approval by the CA.

Page 90

Agenda Item 11



5.4.3 Pot Hole Funding
The Department for Transport allocation for Sefton in 2019/20 is £0.166m. This 
funding will be allocated to the ongoing Highways Maintenance scheme.

5.4.4 Sustainable Urban Development Fund (SUD)
£1.723m has been secured from the European Regional Development Fund over 
2019/20 and 2020/21 for improvements to cycle routes in Southport and Crosby. It 
is proposed that an indicative amount of £0.825m will be allocated to 
improvements to the Transpennine Trail alongside the Coastal Road in Southport 
during 2019/20 with the remaining balance of £0.898m phased to schemes in 
2020/21. This expenditure profile is subject to Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG) approval.

5.4.5 The revised transport allocations for 2019/20 and 2020/21, including new 
allocations and those previously approved, are shown in the table below:

Transport Capital Allocations
2019/20

£000
2020/21

£000

LTP Highways Management 2,298 2,298
LTP Integrated Transport 990 990
LTP Key Route Network (revised) 405 405
Pot Hole Fund* 166 -
CA Local Growth Fund 2,188 -
Sustainable Urban Development Fund * 825 898
Merseyside Local Growth Fund STEP 912 1,135
Major Scheme Development Fund* 275 -
M58 Junction 1 Scheme 4,678 -
North Liverpool Key Corridor - 178
Key Route Network Improvements 200 -
Major scheme contributions (182) -
2018/19 carry forward to completed existing schemes 341 -

Total Programme Funding 13,096 5,904
* new allocations to be approved

5.4.6 A complete breakdown of the transport capital programme for 2019/20 is shown at 
Appendix A.

5.4.7 Cabinet is requested to note the transport programme and to recommend to 
Council to approve the revised and additional transport allocations for 2019/20 
and 2020/21 as shown above. It should be noted that the Highways and Public 
Protection capital programme has been built using these allocations.

Page 91

Agenda Item 11



5.5 M58 Junction 1 Improvements

5.5.1 As noted in paragraph 5.3.2, the major scheme for improvements at M58 Junction 
1 is forecast to overspend in 2019/20 by £0.690m due to increased costs as a 
result of delays to the project.

5.5.2 The total forecast expenditure over the revised timescales of the project (due to 
complete in 2020/21) has increased by £0.780m when compared to the initial 
valuation. The Strategic Transport Planning and Investment team will explore how 
the Council may secure additional support from the CA.

5.5.3 Should no further support be forthcoming however, then any additional 
expenditure not funded by the CA capital grant must be met by Council resources. 
The transport programme for 2019/20 and futures years will be reviewed to 
identify resources that can be redirected to the project.

5.5.4 Members will be kept up to date on the progress of the M58 scheme and any 
changes to the integrated transport programme through regular capital monitoring 
reports.

5.6 Adult Social Care allocations and programme

5.6.1 An additional Better Care Fund allocation for 2018/19 was awarded in February 
2019 of £0.439 and Cabinet is requested to recommend Council to approve this 
for inclusion within the capital programme.

5.6.2 A programme of expenditure of £4.761m in 2019/20 has now been formulated. 
This is detailed in Appendix A. The 2019/20 spend excluding core DFG has been 
profiled to quarters 3 and 4 in anticipation of the setup of an Adult Social Care 
project board that will manage the delivery of the schemes. Delivery of the 
programmed spend this year is heavily dependent upon this board being fully 
operational in quarter 2. 

5.6.3 It should be noted that the ASC capital programme has been built using the 
additional allocation for 2018/19 of £0.439m and that a programme of expenditure 
for 2020/21 will be formulated once the funding available is confirmed.

5.7 Schools Budgets

5.7.1 Revised School Condition Allowance Grant
The allocation for Sefton in 2019/20 is now £1.518m, a reduction of £0.196m on 
the original allocation of £1.714m and is due to 3 schools moving to academy 
status in 2018/19.

5.7.2 School Balances Brought Forward
The balance of funding brought forward from 2018/19 financial year was £2.934m. 
A thorough review of the school’s programme has been completed and £1.400m 
has been identified to be reallocated to existing school’s schemes and the 
essential maintenance budget.

Page 92

Agenda Item 11



5.7.3 There are 3 major schemes for which funding has been reallocated to from the 
above balances:

 Hudson Primary School Heating Ducts Provision – the initial approved 
allocation was £0.300m but the full cost is now £0.909m therefore £0.609m 
has been reallocated from the maintenance budget.

 Netherton Moss Rewire – initial approved allocations were £0.400m for 
rewiring and £0.050m for the kitchen which will all now be used for the rewire 
project.  The full cost of the scheme is now £0.526m therefore an additional 
£0.076m has been reallocated from the maintenance budget.

 Redgate Primary School Rewire - initial allocations were £0.262m for lighting 
and £0.050m for the kitchen which will all now be used for the rewire project.  
The full cost of the project is now £423k therefore an additional £0.111m has 
been reallocated from the maintenance budget.

5.7.4 In addition to these schemes, £0.301m has been identified as match funding for 
SEND schemes (see section 5.8, below). 

5.7.5 The remaining balance of grant funding for 2019/20 is £1.500m, and for 2020/21 it 
is £0.800m. This will be applied to essential maintenance schemes.

5.8 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Capital Allocations

5.8.1 Sefton has made a successful bid to the Department for Education in order to 
draw down SEND capital grant funding in 2019/20 of £0.849m.

5.8.2 The aim within Sefton, is for children and young people with SEND to be able to 
attend a school within their own community. They should be supported to attend a 
local mainstream school or access a place in high quality specialist provision 
without having to travel long distances.

5.8.3 Four new capital schemes to improve the condition and accessibility of school 
buildings have therefore been proposed as part of the bid:

 Redgate Primary – Specialist Resourced Provision £0.06m
 Rowan park School – Expanded Provision £0.35m
 IMPACT Pupil Referral Unit – Refurbishment £0.70m
 Crosby High School – Improved Accessibility £0.04m

5.8.4 The Department for Education is currently reviewing these schemes and will 
release the funds to Sefton in the coming months once they are satisfied that the 
plans have met the funding requirements.

5.8.5 Sefton’s match funding for the bid is £0.301m to be allocated from the balance of 
existing school’s allocations as identified in paragraph 5.7.4.

Page 93

Agenda Item 11



5.8.6 Cabinet is requested to recommend to Council the inclusion of the SEND capital 
schemes within the capital programme.

5.9 Corporate Resources

5.9.1 Cabinet is requested to note the inclusion within the capital programme of a grant 
from Homes England of £0.623m. Acceptance of this grant and a fully funded 
supplementary capital estimate was approved by Cabinet on 23 May 2019. This is 
to be used to develop the infrastructure works at the St John Stones site prior to 
its transfer to Sandway Homes Limited.

5.10 Insourcing of Burials and Cremation Grounds Maintenance

5.10.1 On 20 June 2019 Cabinet agreed the insourcing of the burials and cremation 
grounds maintenance service commencing April 2020.

5.10.2 Capital investment is required to facilitate the provision of this service in-house 
and approval was given for £200k to be committed to new vehicles, machinery 
and equipment to be funded from prudential borrowing. Cabinet are requested to 
note the inclusion of this scheme in the 2020/21 budget. 

5.11 Outputs

5.11.1 The budgeted spend to June 2019 is low given profiles of the budgets as 
discussed in paragraphs 5.2.1 and 5.2.2 hence there are no key outputs to report 
at this time.  

5.12 Programme Funding

5.12.1 The table below shows a how the capital programme will be funding in 2019/20:

Grants 23.496
Contributions (incl. Section 106) 0.798
Capital Receipts 0.196
Prudential Borrowing 1.454
Total Programme Funding 25.943

5.12.2 The programme is reviewed on an ongoing basis to confirm the capital resources 
required to finance capital expenditure are in place, the future years programme is 
fully funded and the level of prudential borrowing remains affordable subject to the 
issue raised in paragraph 5.5.2.

5.12.3 The Head of Corporate Resources will continue to manage the financing of the 
programme to ensure the final capital funding arrangements secure the maximum 
financial benefit to the Council.

Page 94

Agenda Item 11



APPENDIX A – Capital Programme 2019/20 to 2021/22

Budget
Capital Project 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£ £ £
ADULT SOCIAL CARE
Adult Social Care IT Infrastructure  44,020  -  - 
Dunningsbridge Road Training Centre  11,257  -  - 
Primary Care Integration  39,500  -  - 
Core DFG Programme  2,200,000 - - 
Wider Social Care Programme  2,467,000  -  - 

COMMUNITIES
Atkinson Studio Stage  11,929  -  - 
Formby Library Improvements  -  6,620  - 
Crosby Library  80,000  265,237  - 
Bootle Library Boiler  -  42,372  - 

CORPORATE RESOURCES
Magdalen House Alterations  144,979  -  - 
Meadows Community Base  6,328  -  - 
Aintree Community Base  7,783  -  - 
NAC Community Base  21,010  -  - 
Southport Town Hall Community Base  31,850  -  - 
Family Wellbeing Centres - Spokes  122,816  100,000  - 
Fire Door Statutory Compliance  87,921  -  - 
Southport Town Hall Boiler and Controls  13,477  -  - 
Talbot Street Family Centre Boiler  1,409  -  - 
Bootle Town Hall Cold Water System Alterations  10,215  -  - 
ATG Dilapidation Budget  219,718  -  - 
St John Stone - Infrastructure Works  623,210  -  - 

ECONOMIC GROWTH & HOUSING
Marian Square, Netherton CCTV  -  40,405  - 
REECH Project  37,162  -  - 
Southport Commerce Park - 3Rd Phase Development  13,173  -  - 
HMRI  4,400  87,380  - 
Southport Pier Project  252,528  29,675  - 

EDUCATION EXCELLENCE
Schools Programme  2,506,019  3,597,553  190,982 
Healthy Pupils Fund  178,000  -  - 
General Planned Maintenance  598,203  4,000,000  - 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities  148,500  1,050,000  - 

Page 95

Agenda Item 11



2019/20
£

2020/21
£

2021/22
£

HEALTH & WELLBEING
Dunes All Weather Pitches - Invest to Save  13,083  -  - 
Crosby Lakeside Adventure Centre Water sports  75,157  -  - 

HIGHWAYS & PUBLIC PROTECTION
Road Safety  120,000  -  - 
Traffic Management and Parking  2,417,500  -  - 
Accessibility  265,000  -  - 
Healthy Lifestyles  1,590,000  -  - 
A565 Route Management Strategy  710,000  -  - 
Strategic Planning  523,990  -  - 
Completing Schemes/Retentions  32,250  -  - 
Highway Maintenance  2,039,446  -  - 
Street Lighting  300,000  -  - 
Bridges Programme  243,110  -  - 
UTC Maintenance  100,000  -  - 
Drainage  225,000  -  - 
M58 Junction 1 Improvements  4,677,589  -  - 
North Liverpool Key Corridor Improvements  -  177,836  - 

LOCALITY SERVICES
Thornton GOR Improvements  3,692  -  - 
Burials & Cremation Grounds Maintenance Insourcing  -  200,000  - 
Formby Strategic Flood Risk Management Programme  -  44,141  - 
Merseyside Groundwater Study  20,000  11,508  - 
Four Acres Multi Agency Flood Options  3,352  -  - 
CERMS  658,892  410,274  - 
Natural Flood Risk Management  10,000  -  - 
The Pool & Nile Watercourses  58,602  -  - 
Crosby Flood & Coastal Scheme  358,947  306,190  500,000 
Seaforth & Litherland Strategic Flood Risk  -  30,000  - 
Hall Road & Alt Training Bank - Rock Armour  50,000  -  - 
Ainsdale & Birkdale Land Drainage Scheme  30,000  -  - 
Surface Water Management Plan  170,000  -  - 
Parks Schemes  180,318  424,099  - 
Tree Planting Programme  54,300  39,174  38,600 

Vehicle Replacement Programme  1,130,614  -  - 

TOTAL PROGRAMME 25,943,249 10,862,464 729,582

Page 96

Agenda Item 11



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 25 July 2019

Subject: Water Utility Procurement Plan

Report of: Head of Corporate 
Resources

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

NO

Summary:

This report will provide members with the options available to Sefton Council in the 
procurement of water services, with a subsequent recommendation that the Council 
becomes “Self-Supply” in the water market and appoints a managing agent as partner for 
market entry, data collection and billing. 

Recommendation(s):

It is recommended that Cabinet approve:

1. The purchase of Water & Wastewater Wholesale services directly from United Utilities 
as the sole wholesale provider for all Council buildings, including all LA supported 
schools, and that this service is made available to partners (New Directions & 
Academies) currently included in existing utility supply contracts. 

2. Run an advanced request for quotation exercise to appoint a management agent, that 
will be published in the Governments Contracts Finder and on the chest portal, for a 
contract duration of 2 years.

3. That authority be delegated to the Head of Corporate Resources in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services to award the 
contract for a managing agent resulting from the procurement.

4. That Authority be delegated to Head of Corporate Resources and the Head of 
Strategic Support for the review, approval and signature of the Water Supply and 
Sewerage Licence Application and Wholesale Contract for a 2 year period.

5. That the pilot project be reviewed and the results reported to the Cabinet Member for 
Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services six months prior to its end date. 

Page 97

Agenda Item 12



Reasons for the Recommendation(s):
These recommendations will allow the Council to move away from our current ‘deemed’ 
contract rates and comply with Public Contracts Regulations (2015), achieve the largest 
potential savings from the options examined and have maximum control over cost saving 
activities that rely on accurate billing. In addition the Council will have

 voting rights as a market participant, allowing Sefton Council to directly influence 
the market;

 a direct relationship with the wholesaler for quicker issue rectification;
 more regular water meter readings and improved provision of water consumption 

data; and
 access to specialist software to allow Sefton Council and site managers to more 

efficiently and effectively manage water consumption;

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

- Do nothing
Remaining on deemed retailer rates currently does not provide best value for Sefton. 
Remaining on deemed rates also conflicts with our requirements under the Public 
Contracts Regulations (2015).

- Switch retailer
Not considered cost effective and unlikely to yield significantly large saving for retail 
services due to OJEU procurement costs. 

- Sefton MBC access the retail market via a framework
Although this method would avoid OJEU costs and could improve benefits secured as 
part of a group procurement cost savings are still likely to be marginal.

- Access the CCS framework as part of a larger procurement group in the 
Liverpool City Region
Potentially higher savings possible than Sefton MBC accessing a framework alone, 
however, there are no plans currently to progress. Results of this pilot will be relayed to 
the LCR group to aid progress.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs 

The cost of all utilities is met from individual departmental revenue budgets and any 
resulting savings will contribute to the councils overall financial position .

(B) Capital Costs

None

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): All resource 
implications are contained within the report

Page 98

Agenda Item 12



Legal Implications: This proposal will ensure that the Council complies with the 
Public Procurement Regulations 2015

Equality Implications: There are no equality implications

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose: 

Protect the most vulnerable: Not applicable 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: Not applicable

Commission, broker and provide core services: The provision of these services will 
enable to the Council to deliver its core services
Place – leadership and influencer:  This is an opportunity for the Council to work with 
partners to reduce utility costs in Sefton.

Drivers of change and reform: Not applicable

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: The benefits of access to water meter and 
other charging information centrally/at a site level, coupled with the Corporate Landlord 
model will greatly improve short/long term savings and investments for the Council and 
its partners.

Greater income for social investment:  Not applicable

Cleaner Greener: Our approach includes the ambition to reduce water 
losses/consumption and positively contribute to flood risk management. This makes a 
positive contribution towards Sefton Council efforts to adapt to a changing climate. 

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD.5705/19) and Chief Legal & Democratic Officer 
(LD4829/19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the 
report.

(B) External Consultations 

As part of our correspondence to schools and partners within our energy contracts, we 
have made them aware of our intention to secure a new contract for water services and 
will contact them again post Cabinet decision.

Page 99

Agenda Item 12



Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Cabinet meeting. 

Contact Officer: Stephanie Jukes
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4552
Email Address: Stephanie.jukes@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices: None

Background Papers:

Utility Procurement Plan - Cabinet on Thursday 6th September, 2018. Agenda Item 43

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=53511

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 This report will consider the procurement plan for the Council’s water utility contract 
and recommend a preferred option as required under “Utility Procurement Plan” - 
Cabinet Report 6th September, 2018.

1.2 Sefton Council is currently on ‘Deemed contract rates’ with water services retailer, 
Waterplus. Since competition was introduced into the non-household part of the 
water market (April 2017), the previous water supply monopoly has been split into 
wholesale and retail services. The Council must use United Utilities as its 
wholesaler; however, it now has a choice of retailer. As Sefton has not ‘switched’ 
we continue to use, Waterplus, which is a retailer formed from the retail services of 
United Utilities and Severn Trent.

1.3 The water market expects a retailer to supply the retail services, such as reading 
meters, issuing bills and customer service and this was generally understood to 
make up 5 - 7% of the full charges on bills paid. As the retail market has developed 
there is the option to engage an intermediary know as a managing agent which 
displaces the retail element with a supported self-supply model allowing a more 
direct relationship with the Wholesaler, in the Councils case United Utilities.

1.4 The remaining 93 – 95% of the bills paid are made up from the Wholesale charges 
(United Utilities). These charges are fixed and regulated by OFWAT. This is largely 
for the supply of water and the removal and treatment of wastewater such as 
effluent (sewerage) as well as rainwater (Surface Water & Highways Drainage). 

1.5 Officers have carried out an assessment of all options to enter the water market to 
establish those most beneficial to Sefton Council and its utility partners. 

Page 100

Agenda Item 12

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=53511


1.6 This has been evaluated in terms of the potential to make savings, and also factors 
such as:

 Internal resource availability and our preparedness to switch from ‘deemed 
contract’

 Our requirements from a retailer/ intermediary
 The retail/intermediary service ‘offer’ 
 Framework options such as provided by the Crown Commercial Service
 The Liverpool City Region as a joint procurement and the experiences of 

Manchester’s STAR Procurement group

1.7 A recent analysis of Sefton Council and its partners expenditure on total annual 
water services is over £2M, of which £130K is for retailer services. The average 
retail charges therefore make up 6.2% of the full water bill charges. 

1.8 Wholesale charges (93.8% of full water charges) are fixed and totally unavoidable. 
Switching retailer arrangements therefore only applies to a maximum of the 6.2% 
for retailer services.

1.9  The water retail marketplace is still evolving, However, it should offer non-household 
customers

 Customer billing
 Customer service
 An interface between the customer and the wholesaler (including legal compliance 

gained from OFWAT)
 Unit savings for water usage / rainwater drainage 
 An option to purchase ‘ancillary services’

1.10   The report has taken all of the services in 1.9 into account when evaluating    
          options.

Page 101

Agenda Item 12



2.0 Options analysis Summary

2.1 The table below provides a summary of the options evaluated:

Options
1

Do 
Nothing

2
Switch 
retailer

3
Framework

4
LCR 

Collabora-
tion

5
Self-Supply

Contract type Remain on 
“deemed 
contract”

2/3-year 
utility 
retailer 
contract

2/3 year 
contract

This is not 
currently 
available

2 year licence to self-
supply with assistance 
of managing agent to 
replace retail element

Procurement None 
required

OJEU Award via 
Framework

N/A RFQ

Legal 
compliance

No Yes Yes N/A Yes

Possible 
Savings £ 
(Corp./LA 
Schools)

Nil 0 – 25*K 
annually

0 - 25* K
0 – 45** K 
annually
(less ancillary 
services costs)

N/A 20 K 1st year
44 K annually 
onwards

Service 
Levels

Minimum 
standard 
(poor)

Improved Improved with 
framework retail 
support

N/A Improved with 
managing agent 
support. 
Direct relationship with 
Wholesaler

Added value Nil from 
current 
standard

Improved 
account 
support
Specialist 
software***

Improved 
account support
Specialist 
software***

Improved account 
support
Data cleanse
Specialist Software

*anecdotal evidence
**Industry estimates
*** likely to be available

2.2 From the options evaluated it can be seen that

Do Nothing

Remaining on deemed contract is the least favourable option due to the deemed contract 
rates being the most expensive and without running any procurement exercise for water 
services Sefton Council would not meet the Public Contract Regulations.

Deemed contract service standards have presented challenges in maintaining accuracy 
in billing, regular meter readings, resolving issues and complaints and lead to late 
payments and the accrual of large debts. These challenges have also become an 
unsustainable burden within the Council and prohibit development of further saving 
activities and added value services have been difficult to explore and would come at 
additional cost which may also be at conflict with Public Contract Regulations.

Page 102

Agenda Item 12



Switch retailer

A switch in retailer and entering in to a full contractual arrangement will require an OJEU 
procurement to ensure compliance with Public Contract Regulations.  Full OJEU 
procurement will take approx. 6-9 months to complete with associated officer time costs. 
Tariff and service charge rates are likely to improve on deemed contract rates, however 
savings based on anecdotal evidence are estimated to be lower than other options. 
Service standards are also likely to improve as well as become more transparent.

Added value services such as water saving activities would be optional and at additional 
cost. Officers have raised the requirement for appropriate targeting of retailer support 
including specific surface water investment. To date, retailers have shown little interest in 
supporting the types of support required.
 
Framework (to switch retailer)

Entering a framework agreement will bring a similar level of savings and support benefits 
as switching retailer. However, although utilising a framework would eliminate the need 
for OJEU procurement, it would still require us to align with the framework providers 
purchasing arrangements. It would also bring an additional level of customer support 
from the framework provider.

However, within the framework arrangement, Sefton Council would still ultimately be 
reliant on the same retailers on offer as it would if switching retailer. Additional services 
and funding mechanisms that the Council seeks are not developed and would come at 
additional cost.

Research by the Consumer Council for Water indicates that switching retailer is likely to 
yield around 3-4% savings (estimated at £45k for Sefton Council and LA schools). 
However, it is felt that retailers are offering this discounting, based on the requirement for 
customers to purchase ancillary services, thus reducing the savings available.    

LCR Collaboration

The LCR meets on an ad hoc basis to discuss potential joint procurement collaboration, 
however there are no firm plans to jointly procure water services and Sefton in unaware 
of any LCR authority moving away from deemed contract.  The proposed approach and 
experience of Sefton will be useful to assist the wider LCR group when water 
procurement is reviewed.

Self-Supply

The ‘self-supply’ option involves entering the water market without the services of a 
water retailer and creates a more direct relationship with the water wholesaler. This 
would only be possible with the appropriate expertise of a ‘managing agent’ and would 
initially involve applying to OFWAT for a licence agreement. 

On successful granting of a licence, Sefton Council would be required to make 
arrangement for market entry, cleanse its billing status ahead of a switch away from the 
current retailer and setup new billing and consumption monitoring arrangements. The 
costs involved of setting up the Self-supply and paying the managing agent will make a 
small saving in comparison with all other options over the short term.

Page 103

Agenda Item 12



It will provide a method for recovering costs, and the initial & continuing fees via the 
billing system.

The managing agent would need to be procured in line with Sefton guidelines. Although 
our current understanding is that there is only one credible managing agent operating in 
the market at this time, to ensure transparency, officers will run an advanced request for 
quotation exercise, that will be published in the Governments Contracts Finder and on 
the chest portal, for a contract duration of 2 years. This would allow the Council to test 
the current market and by reviewing the contract 6 months prior to contract termination, 
enable a review in this evolving market. 

The benefits of this particular approach for Sefton are, 
 Flexibility to utilise & maximise savings in house
 Relatively short procurement route
 Flexibility of a two-year contract in an evolving market
 Ancillary services not required (charged for) – a reflection of in house expertise

3.0 Proposal and Timescales

3.1 Based on the options analysis in section 2.0, the recommended course of action is 
to undertake a 2 year self supply pilot. This would enable the Energy & 
Environmental management team to carry out a period of financial monitoring to 
fully establish any potential savings available to the Council. 

3.2 The target delivery date is anticipated to be 6 months from Cabinet approval and 
therefore expected April 2020. However, the processes and timescales will be 
exposed to the application process. 

3.3 Alongside the self-supply arrangement, the Energy & Environmental management 
team are preparing support activities to enhance savings based on anticipated 
funding, improved data such as meter readings and refined billing processes. For 
instance, mobile water meter data loggers are currently being purchased to 
identified water wastage and leaks more efficiently. Such activities are further 
expected to compliment the corporate landlord model and overall facilitate a more 
seamless intervention in driving down costs related to the Council’s water spend.

4.0     Summary of costs for entire portfolio (utility contracts)

4.1     The  table  in   2.1  shows   the  potential   savings  to  corporate  sites  and  Sefton          
          controlled schools only.  For a summary of  anticipated  costs for  the entire Sefton 
          portfolio  currently  managed on   our  utility contracts, which   includes  academies 
          and   New   Directions’  sites,   please   see   the   table  below.  Please  note,  that  
          these  are  estimates  which assume no change to  current  consumption,  building   
          occupation  and  wholesale   costs / other  market developments.

                                                          

 

Page 104

Agenda Item 12



Table 4.1 Estimated yearly costs for the full Council portfolio

Current Year 1 Year 2
Total water
Costs                  

£2,229433               
        

£2,093,026              
        

£2,068,026

Wholesale          £2,019,026                       £2,019,026                       £2,019,026
Retail  £210,407

Managing 
agent                       
                   

£65,000 
(+£9,000 fees)

£40,000
(+ £6-9,000 fees)

Page 105

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 107

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 125

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 129

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet Date of Meeting: 25 July 2019

Subject: Sefton Council Housing Development Company- Sandway 
Homes Limited

Report of: Chief Executive 
and Head of 
Corporate 
Resources

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Communities and Housing
Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

NO, but Annexes 1, 2 and 3 of the Report are NOT FOR 
PUBLICATION by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

The Public Interest Test has been applied and favours the 
information being treated as exempt.

Summary:

Following the creation of the Council’s wholly owned Housing Development Company, 
Sandway Homes Limited (SHL), work has been undertaken to update the Company’s 
Business Plan for the Phase 1 programme including a full re-cast of all financial 
information.  This report provides Members with the full detail provided to the Council by 
the Company, an evaluation of the development appraisals and the decisions required 
by Members. 

Recommendation(s):

It is recommended that Cabinet : -

 Approve the Updated development appraisals for Sandway Homes Limited 
and give approval to proceed to the delivery of Phase 1;

 Note the updated financial return that is due to the council from the company 
through Phase 1 and approve that this be included within the Council’s 3-year 
Medium Term Financial Plan (2020/21 to 2022/23);

 Approve the basis for the transfer of land to the Company as set out in the 
report;

 Approve the company’s approach to risk management and financial control 
as set out and note the internal and external factors that could influence and 
impact upon the final financial return to the Council;

 Approve the level and principles that will underpin the peak debt that can be 
accessed to the Company as set out in the report;

 Approve the loan agreement included at Annex 3 between the Council and 
Sandway Homes Limited;

Page 175

Agenda Item 17



 Note the accounting treatment of Sandway Homes Limited within the 
Council’s Statement of Accounts as set out in the report;

 Note and Approve the Council’s governance arrangements in relation to 
Sandway Homes Limited as set out in the report; and

 Approve the request to Sandway Homes Limited to identify up to 5 affordable 
homes for purchase by the Council for the purpose of providing Council 
Housing and that a subsequent report, detailing the exact assets to be 
purchased and the financial implications be provided to support the decision 
in accordance with the Council’s constitution and Financial Procedure Rules.   

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Since 2016 the Council has been considering its role in the provision of housing throughout 
the Borough to complement an active third and private sector market.  There is significant 
demand for housing sites and housing development within Sefton, with over 11,000 
housing units being required, over the Local Plan period, in order to meet with the local 
housing demand.

There is a national shortfall of circa 1m homes (of which 400,000 fall into affordable
homes) whilst across the Liverpool City Region a total of circa 50,000 housing units will be 
required in the medium term. The creation of a Housing Development Company will be 
able to increase housing completions and the availability of choice for residents and those 
whom wish to live in Sefton.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

The Council set out its evaluation criteria in October 2017 that led to the decision to 
establish a wholly owned Housing Development Company. 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

All Revenue Implications are addressed in the subsequent annexes on this agenda
 (B) Capital Costs

All Capital Implications are addressed in the subsequent annexes on this agenda

Implications of the Proposals:
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Page 176

Agenda Item 17



All resource implications are contained within the subsequent report on this agenda

Legal Implications:
Pursuant to the General Power of Competence under sections 1 to 4 of the Localism 
Act 2011 the Council has the power to set up and participate in a company.

Section 95 Local Government Act 2003 and the Local Government (Best Value
Authorities) (Power to Trade) (England) Order 2009 provide that the Council must
establish a company through which to trade.

Section 123 Local Government Act 1972 provides that when disposing of land the
Council must not do so for consideration less than the best that can be reasonably 
obtained.

Equality Implications:

There are no equality implications arising from this report.  

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: The proposals will add housing 
choice within the heart of Sefton’s communities, facilitating confidence.

Commission, broker and provide core services: Projected returns to the Council, 
as sole shareholder, from the Housing Company which will provide revenue to 
contribute towards service provision

Place – leadership and influencer: Housing is a significant contributor to building 
a better sense of place

Drivers of change and reform: Physical infrastructure (housing) is a significant 
contributor to and enabler/catalyst for change 

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: The proposals will make a significant 
contribution to the local economy, both by way of a direct impact to construction 
and civil engineering jobs, but additionally providing a housing supply and choice 
for residents whom wish to live and work in Sefton and wider across Merseyside

Greater income for social investment: the Business Case identifies the 
opportunity for the Housing Company to commission a greater level of social 
value

Cleaner Greener: The proposals will be complaint with the Building Regulations 
and other Planning and Habitat regulations meaning Sefton builds cleaner and 
greener

Page 177

Agenda Item 17



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD 5710/19) and Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer (LD 4834/19) have been consulted and any comments have been 
incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting

Contact Officer: Stephan Van Arendsen
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4081
Email Address: stephan.vanarendsen@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

 Annex 1 – Detailed analysis of the revised development appraisals from Sandway 
Homes Limited

 Annex 2 – Sandway Homes Limited Development Appraisals 
 Annex 3 – Proposed loan agreement between Sefton MBC and Sandway Homes 

Limited

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 178

Agenda Item 17



1.0 Introduction and Background

1.1 In October 2017, Cabinet received a business case that would provide the basis for 
the development and incorporation of a Housing Development Company.  Following 
consideration of that business case and having taken the opportunity to evaluate 
the advice of the Council’s external advisors at that point in time a number of 
recommendations were made and approved.  

1.2 Since that meeting in October 2017, work has commenced on establishing the 
company, Sandway Homes Limited, which is a wholly owned council company 
incorporated on 29 October 2018. Following inception, work has commenced within 
the Company on a range of activities including: - 

 The establishment of the Company’s Board including Non- Executive 
Directors;

 A full review of the original Business Plan via the production of individual 
development appraisals for each site to inform the activities of the company;

 The development of a loan agreement with the Council that sets out the 
basis of financial support and subsequent repayment of any loans; and

 The basis of the transfer of any land from the Council to Sandway Homes 
Limited.

1.3 As it is over 18 months since the original Business Case was developed, it is 
considered that each of these activities form an essential part of the governance, 
due diligence and business planning that should be undertaken within the 
Company.  

2.0 Work undertaken 

2.1 As set out, the Company has over the last 3-4 months conducted a full review of its 
Business Plan for Phase 1 of its operations.   This has included a review of all 
aspects in relation to operational activities including the build programme, income 
and expenditure budgets, resulting financial performance and risk.  This has 
allowed the Council to evaluate each of these aspects and the financial 
performance from Phase 1 and make appropriate recommendations to Cabinet. 
Due to the commercial sensitivity, these are set out in the subsequent annexes on 
this agenda.

3.0 Provision of Affordable Housing by Sefton MBC
 

3.1 As part of this review, Members will note that the company will be policy compliant 
with all aspects of Housing development.  This will include the provision of 
affordable housing.  In support of the direct provision of housing by the Council to 
residents of the Borough, it is proposed that up to 5 affordable homes will be 
purchased from Sandway Homes by the Council for this purpose.  This will be 
funded from the expected capital receipt due to the Council from the company.  It is 
recommended that the Company be informed of this request and be asked to 

Page 179

Agenda Item 17



identify suitable homes for sale.  Upon confirmation of the assets that will be the 
subject of acquisition, a further report will be provided to Members for decision in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution and Financial Procedure Rules.  

Page 180

Agenda Item 17



Page 181

Agenda Item 17



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Report to: 
Cabinet 

Cabinet Date of Meeting: 25th July 2019

Subject: Finance Monitoring Report Strand Shopping Centre, Bootle
Report of: Executive Director

Sarah Kemp
Wards Affected: Linacre/ Derby

Portfolio: Cabinet Member- Regeneration and Skills
Cabinet Member – Corporate Resources

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

No – Rule 27 
applied

Exempt/ 
Confidential 
Report:

The report is not exempt. 

Yes, the Appendices to the report are NOT FOR 
PUBLICATION by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972. The Public Interest 
Test has been applied and favours the information being 
treated as exempt.

Summary:

This Cabinet report sets out an update for Members on the financial performance of Bootle 
Strand Shopping Centre and the presentation of a revised Business Plan including: 

i) The revised Business Plan for 2019/20 – 2021/22
ii) The projected impact on the Strand Reserve;
iii) Details of short to medium term proposals that will further enhance the Centre both 

operationally and financially.

Recommendation(s): Cabinet be requested to:

i) To approve the revised Business Plan
ii) To note the contents of the report including the revised business plan projections 

for the years 2019/20 to 2021/22; and 
iii) To note that the proposal was a Key Decision that had not been included in the 

Council's Forward Plan of Key Decisions.  Consequently, the Leader of the 
Council and the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regulatory, 
Compliance and Corporate Services) had been consulted under Rule 27 of the 
Access to Information Procedure Rules of the Constitution, to the decision being 
made by the Cabinet as a matter of urgency on the basis that it was impracticable 
to defer the decision until Cabinet in September in order that targets within the 
business plan could be achieved.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

Prevailing market conditions have adversely impacted on the current approved Business 
Plan for the Strand. A full analysis of those market conditions, tenancy schedule and 
anticipated costs and receipts for the next 3 years, has led to a re-cast of the Business 
Plan. Operational decision-making cannot be made outside of an approved Business Plan 
and Members are asked to consider the current position and tactical actions to improve 
that position and approve the re-cast of the Business Plan.

Page 183

Agenda Item 18



2

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

Not taking action is likely to lead to further vulnerability in the financial performance of the 
centre.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

There is no anticipated revenue implications for the Council. Debt repayments have been 
and will continue to be made, from income generated by the asset.

(B) Capital Costs

There are no capital requirements other than those reflected in the updated Business 
Plan.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
Capacity from members of the Council’s Property and Building Services, Planning 
and Regeneration and Corporate Resources Teams. 

Legal Implications: 

Equality Implications: 
There are no equality implications

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:
Protect the most vulnerable:
The acquisition of the Strand was partially based in generating additional Council 
income to contribute to the Medium Term Financial Plan. This is contingent on the 
Strand receiving an optimum Net Operating Income to support the operation of the 
Strand and create a surplus for the Council.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
The Strand is an entrenched community asset visited by some residents as much 
as 3 times a week. With the transformation of the Strand to a Health and Wellbeing 
hub, the development of an Assistive Technology Showroom and the incorporation 
of Sefton@Work into the Centre, visitors to the Strand will find under one roof a 
variety of support systems and life-enriching products. 

Commission, broker and provide core services:
As above. Through moving Sefton@Work into the Strand, this service will have 
greater visibility to visitors to the Strand to aid residents in their search for work. 

Place- leadership and influencer:

Page 184

Agenda Item 18



3

This important community asset provides 70% of the retail offer for Bootle and 
employs over 800 staff. It also provides a vehicle that when redeveloped, will 
catalyse town centre regeneration because of its unique location and community 
offer.

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
The Strand employs over 800 people and offers many skills and training 
opportunities as well as promotion of community activity.

Greater income for social investment:

Cleaner Greener:

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Head of Corporate Resources (FD 5706/19) and Chief Legal & Democratic Officer 
(LD4830 /19) have been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the 
report. 

(B) External Consultations

Not applicable.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Contact Officer: Sarah Kemp
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4770
Email Address: Sarah.kemp@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:
Appendix 1- Appendix 1 of Finance Monitoring Report, the Strand Shopping 
Centre, Bootle (Exempt)
Appendix 2- Revised Business Plan (Exempt)

Page 185

Agenda Item 18

mailto:Sarah.kemp@sefton.gov.uk


4

1. Introduction

1.1 Prior to, and throughout the Council’s acquisition of the Strand Shopping Centre, 
the Council’s objective was to reverse the fortunes of a valued community asset, 
catalyse regeneration of Bootle Town Centre and to ensure that the costs of 
purchasing and operating the centre would be met by the income due from lettings 
and other income.  This would facilitate where possible any surplus income 
generated from the Centre contributing to the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Plan. In advance of the financial year 2018/19, a £1m surplus had been generated 
by the centre and this is included in the Councils Medium Term Financial Plan and 
will support service provision

1.2 It is widely recognised that the retail industry is undergoing significant structural 
change which has not yet settled into a new “norm”. This change is not cyclical as 
has previously been experienced, but is structural; a change anticipated at the time 
of acquisition and a motivating factor to address the halt the decline of this important 
community asset, through re-purposing and protecting the vitality of its current retail 
offer.

1.3 However, it should be noted that many retailers continue to trade strongly and the 
impact of CVAs and administrations has been greater in primary shopping centres, 
than within the community convenience and value centres, such as the Strand.

1.4 Whilst the industry as a whole is pushing back on the unfair and disproportionate 
loading of creditor renegotiations onto landlords in particular, it has been our 
experience that reluctant acceptance of the lease terms presented to the Council in 
order to prevent company administrations, has been insufficient to halt the 
inevitable closure of those businesses.

1.5 Action has been taken wherever possible to mitigate the landlord losses and a 
number of initiatives are proposed to continue to protect the commercial viability of 
the shopping centre.

1.6 In line with any asset the Council owns, valuations of the land and buildings are 
carried out in accordance with the methodologies and estimations set out in the 
professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Valuations 
are carried out as part of a rolling programme and all properties within Sefton’s 
property portfolio are valued by suitably qualified professionals.

 
1.7 With all assets, the value can go up and down depending on market conditions, 

the economic climate, and valuation methodology and therefore the figures for 
each valuation are always subjective to many factors.

 
1.8 The valuation for The Stand was £27.220m as at 31 March 2019, and we can 

reassure our communities that any change in valuation, whether it goes up or 
down, does not have an impact on the Council’s overall financial standing, health 
or ability to fund services, as it is a notional adjustment. The most recent valuation 
was reported to Audit and Governance Committee in June 2019.

Page 186

Agenda Item 18


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	4 Procurement of Sefton Stop Smoking Service
	5 Liverpool City Region 'Statement of Common Ground'
	6 Single Use Plastics - Update
	7 Revenues & Benefits - Procurement of Software Solutions
	8 Revenue and Capital Budget Update - Treasury Management Outturn 2018/19
	9 Revenue and Capital Budget Update - Revenue Budget Outturn 2018/19
	10 Revenue & Capital Budget Update - Capital Outturn 2018/19
	11 Revenue and Capital Budget Update 2019/20
	12 Water Utility Procurement Plan
	14 Sefton Council Housing Development Company- Sandway Homes Limited Appendices
	15 Finance Monitoring Report Strand Shopping Centre, Bootle Appendices
	Appendix 2- Revised Business Plan

	17 Sefton Council Housing Development Company- Sandway Homes Limited
	18 Finance Monitoring Report Strand Shopping Centre, Bootle

